CORONIZATIONS AND BIG PIECES IN METRIC SPACES

S. BORTZ, J. HOFFMAN, S. HOFMANN, J. L. LUNA-GARCIA, AND K. NYSTRÖM

ABSTRACT. We prove that coronizations with respect to arbitrary *d*-regular sets (not necessarily graphs) imply big pieces squared of these (approximating) sets. This is known (and due to David and Semmes in the case of sufficiently large co-dimension, and to Azzam and Schul in general) in the (classical) setting of Euclidean spaces with Hausdorff measure of integer dimension, where the approximating sets are Lipschitz graphs. Our result is a far reaching generalization of these results and we prove that coronizations imply big pieces squared is a generic property. In particular, our result applies, when suitably interpreted, in metric spaces having a fixed positive (perhaps non-integer) dimension, equipped with a Borel regular measure and with arbitrary approximating sets. As a novel application we highlight how to utilize this general setting in the context of parabolic uniform rectifiability.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
2. Preliminaries	5
2.1. Trading for scales	6
2.2. Dyadic notation	7
2.3. Carleson measures and decompositions	8
2.4. Corona decompositions and big pieces	9
2.5. β -numbers and geometric lemmas	11
2.6. Stability of geometric lemmas under the 'big piece functor'	12
3. Proof of Theorem 1.1	13
3.1. Preliminary observations	14
3.2. Proof of Theorem 1.1 by induction	15
4. Applications to parabolic uniform rectifiability	19
Appendix A. Proofs of Propositions 2.29-2.31	24
A.1. Completing the proofs of the main propositions	26
A.2. Proof of Lemma A.2-Lemma A.6	28

Date: June 26, 2021.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. 28A75, 30L99, 43A85.

Key words and phrases. Carleson measures, corona decompositions, big pieces, geometric lemmas.

The authors J. H., S. H., and J.L. L- G. were partially supported by NSF grants DMS-1664047 and DMS-2000048. K.N. was partially supported by grant 2017-03805 from the Swedish research council (VR).

References 33

1. Introduction

The monumental works of G. David and S. Semmes [DS1], [DS2] concerning equivalent characterization of uniformly rectifiable (UR) sets $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ remain a source of continuous inspiration for anyone interested in geometry and analysis. Their results apply in the Euclidean metric space $(X, \operatorname{dist}, \mu) = (\mathbb{R}^n, |\cdot|_2, H^d)$, where d < n and H^d is the d-dimensional Hausdorff measure. The following three characterizations of uniformly rectifiability of an Ahlfors-regular set E are proved in [DS1] (we refer to [DS1] for definitions and precise statements):

- E admits a coronization with respect to Lipschitz graphs.
- E has big pieces of bi-Lipschitz images.
- E satisfies a 'geometric lemma' quantified in terms of β -numbers.

In particular, in [DS1] it is proved that uniformly rectifiability of an Ahlfors-regular set E can be characterized by the property that E admits, for each $\eta > 0$, a corona decomposition with respect to Lipschitz graphs in the class $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{Lip}$ where \mathcal{E}_{η}^{Lip} denotes the class of Lipschitz graphs with Lipschitz constant no larger than $\eta > 0$.

This paper is primarily concerned with two notions: coronizations and big pieces. The former notion is quite technical (see Definition 2.14), while the latter can be summarized rather easily. The phrase 'E has big pieces of \mathcal{E} ' means that E has a uniformly 'large amount' of coincidence with a set from \mathcal{E} , at every location (point on E) and at every scale. This big pieces 'functor' can be iterated (see Definition 2.16) and, in classical settings, it often preserves quantitative properties of the set such as uniform rectifiability [DS2] or the boundedness of singular integral operators [D, FO]. Since the developments in the study of singular integral operators on Lipschitz graphs [CMM, CDM, CCFJR, CS, D] motivated much of the early work on UR sets, it became natural to ask if the big pieces functor 'stabilizes' when repeatedly applied to the collection of Lipschitz graphs. More precisely, one may ask whether there is a $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that every UR set is $BP^{j}(LG)$ where this notation means iterating the big pieces (BP) functor j times and LG is the collection of Lipschitz graphs (with uniform control on the Lipschitz constants). In fact, while it was proved by $Hrycak^1$, that not every UR set is $BPLG = BP^1(LG)$, in [DS2] it is proved that UR sets are BP²(LG), when $n \ge 2d + 1$. More recently, in [AS] J. Azzam and R. Schul proved, via the characterization of UR sets by big pieces of bi-Lipschitz images, that every UR set is BP²(LG).

The purpose of this paper is to give a far reaching generalization of these results and to prove that "coronizations imply big pieces squared" is a generic property. To give a first statement of our main result we consider, as we do throughout the paper, a fixed triple $(X, \operatorname{dist}, \mu)$ where (X, dist) is a metric space and μ is a Borel regular measure. To limit the number of parameters introduced in definitions and theorems we will for simplicity and consistently assume that $\operatorname{diam}(X) = \infty$: this

¹This work went unpublished. One can use the "venetian blinds" construction (see [Fal, Theorem 6.9] or [Mat, Lemma 6.9]) to provide such an example.

assumption is not essential (see Remark 2.17 below). We also fix a 'dimension' $d \in (0, \infty)$. While $(X, \operatorname{dist}, \mu)$ is fixed, all constants appearing in our results will be independent of the particular metric measure space $(X, \operatorname{dist}, \mu)$ (while of course depending on the quantitative parameters describing the space, e.g., the dimension d, the d-regularity constants, etc.). The following theorem, of which the precise statement can be found at the beginning of Section 3, is our main result.

Theorem 1.1. Let $E \subset X$ be a d-regular set with respect to the measure μ (see Definition 2.1). Suppose that \mathcal{E} is a collection of closed subsets of X each of which is d-regular with respect to the measure μ (with uniform bounds on the regularity constant). If E admits a coronization with respect to \mathcal{E} (see Definition 2.14) then E has big pieces squared of \mathcal{E} (see Definition 2.16).

We emphasize that although the formulation of Theorem 1.1 does not require any particular quantitative restriction on the class \mathcal{E} , in typical applications, the class \mathcal{E} is subject to some specified quantitative control, and in this case the theorem says that the big pieces squared approximation is obtained with respect to sets having the same (uniform) quantitative control.

In the classical Euclidean setting discussed above $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}_{\eta}^{Lip}$ and given that a d-regular set $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n, d < n$, has a corona decomposition with respect to \mathcal{E}_{η}^{Lip} , we deduce from our Theorem 1.1 that E is approximable in the big pieces squared sense by Lipschitz graphs in the class \mathcal{E}_{η}^{Lip} , for the specified $\eta > 0$. In particular, based on characterization of UR sets in [DS1], we recover the result of [AS] concerning big pieces squared approximability of uniformly rectifiable sets by Lipschitz graphs.

An alternate proof of the result of J. Azzam and R. Schul [AS] in the case d = n - 1, based on corona-type constructions, was given by the first and third author in [BH1]. While Theorem 1.1 applies in far more general settings beyond the setting of UR sets in Euclidean spaces, a consequence of Theorem 1.1, and the characterization of UR sets by coronizations with respect to Lipschitz graphs (see [DS1]), is that we here provide a 'corona analysis' type of proof of the result of J. Azzam and R. Schul [AS] for d < n. However, it should be noted that in their work [AS] J. Azzam and R. Schul also establish several other results beyond the fact that UR sets are BP²(LG). Their work has been further expanded upon by G. C. David and Schul [GCDS].

Another use of Theorem 1.1 is that it allows easy passage from a coronization to general 'geometric lemmas' [J, DS1, DS2]. It is a general fact that in the present setting (general) geometric lemmas are stable under the 'big pieces functor' (in particular when applying it twice!). This big piece stability is just a matter of carefully checking that the proofs of David and Semmes [DS2] and Rigot [R] adapt to our setting. Using Theorem 1.1 we can prove the following theorem and we refer to the bulk of the paper for definitions of the geometric lemmas stated in the theorem.

Theorem 1.2. Let $E \subset X$ be a d-regular set with respect to the measure μ . Suppose that \mathcal{E} is a collection of closed subsets of X each of which is d-regular with respect to the measure μ with uniform bounds on the regularity constant, and that \mathcal{A} is a collection of subsets of X (not necessarily d-regular). Suppose E admits a coronization with respect to E. Then the following implications hold:

• If $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$ satisfy

$$\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{d} > 0,$$

and if every $\widetilde{E} \in \mathcal{E}$ satisfies the (p,q)-geometric lemma with respect to \mathcal{A} , with uniform control on the Carleson measure constant, then E satisfies the (p,q)-geometric lemma with respect to \mathcal{A} .

- If every $E \in \mathcal{E}$ satisfies the weak geometric lemma with parameter ϵ with respect to \mathcal{A} , with uniform control on the Carleson set constant, then E satisfies the weak geometric lemma with parameter $C\epsilon$ with respect to \mathcal{A} . Here C depends only on dimension and the d-regularity constants.
- If every $E \in \mathcal{E}$ satisfies the bilateral weak geometric lemma with parameter ϵ with respect to \mathcal{A} , with uniform control on the Carleson set constant, then E satisfies the bilateral weak geometric lemma with parameter $C\epsilon$ with respect to \mathcal{A} . Here C depends only on dimension and the d-regularity constants.

We emphasize that all implications stated in Theorem 1.2 are of a quantitative nature. The reader should also bear in mind that in the context of uniform rectifiability, the collection \mathcal{A} is the collection of all d-dimensional affine spaces. The structure of the sets \mathcal{A} is not important in the proofs given by David and Semmes [DS2] and Rigot [R].

While Theorem 1.1 and Theorem 1.2 are, by their nature, very general and of interest in many different contexts, one of our main motivations is the application of these results in our ongoing project concerning a parabolic version of parts of [DS1], [DS2], with the goal of establishing equivalent characterization of parabolic uniformly rectifiable sets $E \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$. In [HLN1], [HLN2] the third and fifth author, together with John Lewis, introduced a notion of parabolic uniformly rectifiable sets and proved, among other things, the existence of big pieces of regular parabolic Lipschitz graphs under the additional assumption that E is Reifenberg flat in the parabolic sense. These studies were motivated by the study of parabolic or caloric measures in rough domains, but up to now no systematic and correct study of parabolic uniformly rectifiable sets has appeared in the literature. It is true that in [RN1, RN2, RN3], the author took on the ambitious challenge to develop the theory of parabolic uniformly rectifiable sets. Unfortunately though, in [RN1, RN2] the author either gives no proofs of his claims or supplies proofs which have gaps, a few of which we pinpoint in [BHHLN1]. In [RN3] the author states that the parabolic corona decomposition implies parabolic UR, with a proof going through the corresponding 'alpha' numbers as in [To]. On the other hand, this result is also a corollary of our Theorem 1.2 (see Theorem 4.15), and as our proof is based on an entirely different method, we have not checked in detail the validity of the method claimed in [RN3].

In forthcoming papers, including [BHHLN1], along with the present paper, we conduct a thorough study of parabolic uniformly rectifiable sets, and in the context of this paper we note that in [BHHLN1] we prove, among other things, that parabolic uniformly rectifiable sets (see Definition 4.1), satisfy a corona decomposition with respect to *regular* Lip(1,1/2) graphs (see Definition 4.6). Such graphs are the

natural parabolic analogues of Lipschitz graphs, from the point of view of both singular integral theory, and PDE/potential theory (see [H1, H2, HL, LM, KW]). In the present paper, we obtain a converse to this result from [BHHLN1], as we prove that corona decomposition with respect to regular Lip(1,1/2) graphs implies parabolic uniformly rectifiability. This converse is a rather straightforward consequence of the general results established in this paper; we refer to Section 4 for details, see in particular Theorem 4.15 (i). In combination, the present paper and [BHHLN1] show that, just as in the elliptic setting [DS1], we can characterize parabolic uniform rectifiability in terms of the existence of a corona decomposition with respect to an appropriate family of graphs (regular Lip(1,1/2) graphs). We further obtain that all sufficiently "nice" parabolic singular integral operators are L^2 bounded on a parabolic uniformly rectifiable set; see Theorem 4.16 and Corollary 4.17 below.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 is of preliminary nature. Theorem 1.1 is proved in Section 3 and the proof is based on an induction argument. Theorem 1.2 is a consequence of Theorem 1.1, and Propositions 2.29, 2.30 and 2.31 which establish stability of various 'geometric lemmas' in this general setting, and are stated in the bulk of the paper. In fact, minor modifications aside, the proofs of the three propositions follow almost exactly the corresponding proofs in [DS2, R]. In this sense we claim little originality in this part and we therefore postpone the proofs (or perhaps rather the confirmations of the validity) of Propositions 2.29, 2.30 and 2.31 to an appendix at the end of the paper, Appendix A. However, these proposition are used in Section 4 where we detail and prove our applications to parabolic uniform rectifiability and we note that Propositions 2.29, 2.30 and 2.31 have previously not appeared in the literature in the context of parabolic uniform rectifiability.

2. Preliminaries

Recall $(X, \operatorname{dist}, \mu)$ and d introduced in the introduction. In the sequel, B(x, r), for $x \in X$ and r > 0, will always denote a *closed* metric ball defined with respect to dist and centered at x with radius r.

As is customary, we use the letters c, C to denote harmless positive constants, not necessarily the same at each occurrence, which depend only on dimension (d) and the constants appearing in the hypotheses of theorems/lemmas (which we refer to as the "allowable parameters"). In some cases, we shall simply use the letter C to denote one of these fixed allowable parameters (see, e.g., Definition 2.1 below). We shall also sometimes write $a \le b$ and $a \ge b$ which mean, respectively, that $a \le Cb$ and $0 < c \le a/b \le C$, where the constants c and c are, unless otherwise stated, as above. When a constant is given a numerical subscript (e.g. c0) its value will be fixed.

Definition 2.1 (*d*-regularity). Let $E \subset X$. We say E is *d*-regular (with respect to μ) up to scale $R_0 \in (0, \infty]$ and with constant C > 1, written $E \in \text{Reg}(C, R_0)$ if E is closed and

$$C^{-1}r^d \le \mu(B(x,r) \cap E) \le Cr^d$$
, $\forall x \in E, r \in (0,R_0)$.

We call the upper bound here the **upper regularity condition** and the lower bound here the **lower regularity condition**. In the case $R_0 = \infty$ we simply write $E \in \text{Reg}(C)$.

2.1. **Trading for scales.** The following lemma allows us to localize any d-regular set

Lemma 2.2. Let $E \in \text{Reg}(C)$. Then for every $x \in E$ and r > 0 there exists $E_{x,r} \subset E$ such that $E_{x,r} \in \text{Reg}(2^{6d}10^dC, 10r)$ and

$$B(x,r) \cap E \subset E_{x,r} \subset B(x,3r) \cap E$$
.

In particular, diam $(E_{x,r}) \ge C^{-2/d}(r/2)$.

Proof. The statement about the diameter of $E_{x,r}$ immediately follows from the regularity of E and that $B(x,r) \cap E \subset E_{x,r} \subset B(x,3r) \cap E$. Indeed,

$$\mu(B(x, C^{-2d}r/2) \cap E) \le 2^{-d}\mu(B(x, r) \cap E),$$

since the right hand side is non-zero this implies there exists $y \in E \cap B(x, r) \setminus B(x, C^{-2d}r/2)$, which immediately gives the diameter estimate.

Now we produce the set $E_{x,r}$. Let $A_0 = B(x,r) \cap E$ and for k = 1, 2, ... we defined A_k inductively by

$$A_k = \bigcup_{z \in A_{k-1}} B(z, 2^{-k}r) \cap E.$$

Set $A = \bigcup_{k>0} A_k$. Obviously $B(x, r) \cap E \subseteq A$.

Let $z \in A$ be fixed. Then $z \in A_{k_0}$ for some k_0 and by definition there exists $z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_{k_0-1}$ such that $z_k \in A_k$, $\operatorname{dist}(z_0, x) < r$, $\operatorname{dist}(z_{k_0-1}, z) < 2^{-k_0}r$ and

$$dist(z_k, z_{k+1}) < 2^{-k-1}r$$
.

It immediately follows from the triangle inequality that

$$\operatorname{dist}(z, x) < \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{-k} r = 2r,$$

which gives that $A \subseteq B(x, 2r) \cap E$. Let $s \in (0, 2^{-k_0+5}r]$. Using that $B(z, 2^{-6}s) \cap E \subset B(z, 2^{-k_0-1}r) \cap E \subseteq A$ we have

$$C^{-1}2^{-6d}s^d \le \mu(E \cap B(z, 2^{-6}s)) = \mu(B(z, 2^{-6}s) \cap A)$$

$$\le \mu(E \cap B(z, s)) \le Cs^d,$$

where we used the *d*-regularity of *E* in the first and last inequalities. Now suppose that $s \in [2^{-j-1}r, 2^{-j}r)$ for some $j \in \{0, 1, \dots k_0 - 6\}$. Then with $\{z_k\}_{k=0}^{k_0-1}$ as above we have that $\operatorname{dist}(z_k, z) \leq 2^{-k}r$, so that $B(z_{j+5}, 2^{-j-6}r) \cap E \subset B(z, s) \cap A$. Thus,

$$C^{-1}2^{-6d}s \le C^{-1}2^{(-j-6)d}r \le \mu(B(z_{j+5}, 2^{-j-6}r) \cap E)$$

$$\le \mu(B(z, s) \cap A) \le Cs^d,$$

where we used the regularity of E and that $A \subset E$ in the last line. If $s \in [r, 10r)$, then $s' = s/10 \in (0, r)$, so appealing to the analysis above we obtain

$$C^{-1}10^{-d}s \le \mu(B(z, s/10) \cap A) \le \mu(B(z, s) \cap E) \le Cs^d$$
.

This shows that

$$C^{-1}10^{-d}2^{-6d}s \le \mu(B(z,s) \cap A) \le Cs^d, \quad \forall z \in A, s \in (0,10r).$$

Notice that no point of A is isolated. We take $E_{x,r}$ to be the closure of A, then since E is closed $E_{x,r} \subseteq E$. If $w \in E_{x,r}$, $\epsilon \in (0, 1/2)$ and $s \in (0, 10r)$ then there exists $z \in A$ such that $\operatorname{dist}(z, w) \leq \epsilon s$ and hence

$$\begin{split} C^{-1}10^{-d}2^{-6d}(1-\epsilon)^d s^d & \leq \mu(A\cap B(z,(1-\epsilon)s)) \\ & \leq \mu(E_{x,r}\cap B(w,s)) \leq \mu(E\cap B(w,s)) \leq Cs^d. \end{split}$$

which gives that $E_{x,r} \in \text{Reg}(2^{6d}10^dC, 10r)$. The fact that $B(x,r) \cap E \subset E_{x,r} \subset B(x,3r)$ follows from the analysis above as well.

Remark 2.3 ("Trading For Scales"). In the proof of Lemma 2.2 we used a technique which one might call "trading for scales", where we sacrifice some portion of a structural constant in order to gain in 'scale'. This can also be done with the constants in the big pieces definition (see Definition 2.16) and is demonstrated in Lemma 2.19. This idea will be used frequently in the proof of Theorem 1.1 and, due to the focus on other technical matters, at that time we will use this technique without mentioning it at each occurrence.

As an example of trading for scales we produce the following lemma, which is applicable to the set constructed in Lemma 2.2.

Lemma 2.4. Suppose that $E \in \text{Reg}(C, R)$ with R > diam E. Then

$$E \in \text{Reg}(C(R'/R)^d, R')$$
,

for all R' > R.

Proof. If $r \in (0, R)$ then $C^{-1}r^d \le \mu(E \cap B(x, r)) \le Cr^d$ for all $x \in E$. If $r \in [R, R')$ then r > diam E and hence for $x \in E$

$$\mu(E \cap B(x,r)) = \mu(E \cap B(x,R)) \ge C^{-1}R^d$$

= $C^{-1}(R'/R)^d(R')^d \ge C^{-1}(R'/R)^d r^d$.

Additionally, for $r \in [R, R')$ and $x \in E$ it holds

$$\mu(E \cap B(x,r)) = \mu(E \cap B(x,R)) \le CR^d \le Cr^d.$$

These estimates give the lemma.

2.2. Dyadic notation.

Lemma 2.5. (Existence and properties of the "dyadic grid") [DS1, DS2], [Chr], [HK]. Suppose that $E \in \text{Reg}(C)$ Then there exist constants $a_0 > 0$, $\gamma > 0$ and $C_1 < \infty$, depending only on d and C, such that for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, there is a collection of pairwise disjoint Borel sets ("cubes")

$$\mathbb{D}_k := \{Q_j^k \subset E : j \in \mathfrak{I}_k\},\$$

where $\Im_k \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ denotes some index set depending on k, satisfying

(i)
$$E = \bigcup_j Q_j^k$$
 for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$.

- (ii) If $m \ge k$ then either $Q_i^m \subset Q_i^k$ or $Q_i^m \cap Q_i^k = \emptyset$.
- (iii) For each (j,k) and each m < k, there is a unique i such that $Q_i^k \subset Q_i^m$.
- (iv) diam $(Q_i^k) \le C_1 2^{-k}$.
- (v) Each Q_j^k contains some "surface ball" $\Delta(x_j^k, a_0 2^{-k}) := B(x_j^k, a_0 2^{-k}) \cap E$.

A few remarks are in order concerning this lemma.

- In the setting of a general space of homogeneous type, this lemma was proved by Christ [Chr], with the dyadic parameter 1/2 replaced by some constant $\delta \in (0, 1)$. In fact, one may always take $\delta = 1/2$ (see [HMMM, Proof of Proposition 2.12]). In the presence of the Ahlfors-David property, and in Euclidean space the result already appears in [DS1, DS2].
- We shall denote by $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{D}(E)$ the collection of all relevant Q_i^k , i.e.,

$$\mathbb{D} := \cup_k \mathbb{D}_k$$
.

• Properties (iv) and (v) imply that for each cube $Q \in \mathbb{D}_k$, there is a point $x_Q \in E$, a metric ball $B(x_Q, r)$ and a surface ball $\Delta(x_Q, r) := B(x_Q, r) \cap E$ such that $r \approx 2^{-k} \approx \operatorname{diam}(Q)$ and

(2.6)
$$\Delta(x_Q, r) \subset Q \subset \Delta(x_Q, Cr),$$

for some uniform constant C. We shall denote this ball and surface ball by

$$(2.7) B_Q := B(x_Q, r), \Delta_Q := \Delta(x_Q, r),$$

and we shall refer to the point x_O as the "center" of Q.

- For a dyadic cube $Q \in \mathbb{D}_k$, we shall set $\ell(Q) = 2^{-k}$, and we shall refer to this quantity as the "length" of Q. Evidently, $\ell(Q) \approx \operatorname{diam}(Q)$.
- For a dyadic cube $Q \in \mathbb{D}$ and K > 1 we define

$$KQ := \{x \in E : \operatorname{dist}(x, Q) \le (K - 1) \operatorname{diam}(Q)\}.$$

• If $Q \in \mathbb{D}_k$ and $Q' \in \mathbb{D}_{k+1}$ are such that $Q' \subseteq Q$ we say Q' is a "child" of Q.

Definition 2.8 (Localized Dyadic Grids and Sawtooths). Let C > 1, $E \in \text{Reg}(C)$ and $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{D}(E)$ as above. For $Q \in \mathbb{D}$ we set $\mathbb{D}_Q = \{Q' \in \mathbb{D} : Q' \subseteq Q\}$. If $\mathcal{F} = \{Q_j\}$ is a countable collection of pairwise disjoint cubes in \mathbb{D} then we set $\mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F}} = \mathcal{D} \setminus \cup_j \mathbb{D}_{Q_j}$. If $Q \in \mathbb{D}$ and $\mathcal{F} = \{Q_j\}$ is a countable collection of pairwise disjoint cubes in \mathbb{D} then we set

$$\mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F},O} = \mathbb{D}_O \cap \mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F}}.$$

2.3. Carleson measures and decompositions.

Definition 2.9 (Discrete Measures and Discrete Carleson Norms). Suppose C > 1, $E \in \text{Reg}(C)$ and $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{D}(E)$ be as above. Let $\{\alpha_Q\}_{Q \in \mathbb{D}}$, where $\alpha_Q \in [0, \infty)$. We let m be the discrete measure associated to $\{\alpha_Q\}_{Q \in \mathbb{D}}$ be defined by

$$\mathfrak{m}(\mathbb{D}') = \sum_{Q \in \mathbb{D}'} \alpha_Q,$$

for any collection of cubes $\mathbb{D}' \subseteq \mathbb{D}$. If $\mathcal{F} = \{Q_j\}$ is a countable collection of pairwise disjoint cubes in \mathbb{D} we define $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{F}}$ by

$$\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{D}') = \mathfrak{m}(\mathbb{D}' \cap \mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F}}).$$

If $\mathcal{F} = \{Q_j\}$ is a countable collection of pairwise disjoint cubes in \mathbb{D} we define the global Carleson norm of $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{F}}$ as

$$\|\mathbf{m}_{\mathcal{F}}\|_{\mathcal{C}} = \sup_{Q \in \mathbb{D}} \frac{\mathbf{m}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{D}_Q)}{\mu(Q)}$$

and for $Q_0 \in \mathbb{D}$ the localized Carleson norm of $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{F}}$ (with respect to Q_0) as

$$\|\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{F}}\|_{\mathcal{C}(Q_0)} = \sup_{Q \in \mathbb{D}_{Q_0}} \frac{\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{D}_Q)}{\mu(Q)}.$$

Here if $\mathcal{F} = \emptyset$ we write m in place of $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{F}}$ in the notation above.

An important ingredient in the proof of Theorem 1.1 is the following decomposition of a discrete Carleson region.

Lemma 2.10. [HM, Lemma 7.2] Suppose that C' > 1, $E \in \text{Reg}(C')$ and let $\mathbb{D}(E)$ be as above. Suppose that m is a discrete measure associated to $\{\alpha_Q\}_{Q \in \mathbb{D}}$. There exists C depending on d and C' such that the following holds. Given $a \geq 0$, b > 0, and $Q \in \mathbb{D}$ such that $\mathfrak{m}(\mathbb{D}_Q) \leq (a+b)\mu(Q)$, there is a family $\mathcal{F} = \{Q_j\} \subset \mathbb{D}_Q$ of pairwise disjoint cubes such that

where B is the union of those $Q_j \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $\mathfrak{m}(\mathbb{D}_{Q_j} \setminus \{Q_j\}) > a \mu(Q_j)$.

2.4. **Corona decompositions and big pieces.** Before we introduce the notion of corona decomposition we need the following definition.

Definition 2.13 ([DS2]). Suppose *E* is *d*-regular with dyadic cubes $\mathbb{D}(E)$. Let $S \subset \mathbb{D}(E)$. We say that S is "coherent" if the following conditions hold:

- (a) **S** contains a unique maximal element Q(S) which contains all other elements of **S** as subsets.
- (b) If Q belongs to S, $\widetilde{Q} \in \mathbb{D}$ and $Q \subset \widetilde{Q} \subset Q(S)$, then $\widetilde{Q} \in S$.
- (c) Given a cube $Q \in \mathbf{S}$, either all of its children belong to \mathbf{S} , or none of them do.

We say that **S** is "semi-coherent" if only conditions (a) and (b) hold.

Definition 2.14 (Coronizations). Let $C_*, C_{**} > 1$. Suppose that $E \in \text{Reg}(C_*)$ and let $\mathbb{D}(E)$ be as above. Let $\mathcal{E} \subseteq \text{Reg}(C_{**})$. Suppose $0 < \eta$ and K > 1. We say that E admits an (η, K) -coronization with respect to \mathcal{E} if the following holds. There is a disjoint decomposition $\mathbb{D}(E) = \mathcal{G} \cup \mathcal{B}$, satisfying the following properties.

(1) The "Good" collection \mathcal{G} is further subdivided into disjoint stopping time regimes $\{S\}_{S \in \mathcal{S}}$, such that each such regime $S \in \mathcal{S}$ is coherent (cf. Definition 2.13).

(2) The "Bad" cubes, as well as the maximal cubes Q(S) satisfy a Carleson packing condition: There exists a constant $C_{\eta,K} \ge 0$ such that

$$\sum_{Q'\subseteq Q,\,Q'\in\mathcal{B}}\mu(Q') + \sum_{\mathbf{S}:Q(\mathbf{S})\subseteq Q}\mu\big(Q(\mathbf{S})\big) \leq C_{\eta,K}\,\mu(Q)\,,\quad \forall Q\in\mathbb{D}(E)\,.$$

(3) For each S, there exists $\Gamma_S \in \mathcal{E}$ for every $Q \in S$,

(2.15)
$$\sup_{x \in KQ} \operatorname{dist}(x, \Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}) < \eta \, \ell(Q).$$

In the sequel, we write $\mathcal{M} = \{Q(\mathbf{S})\}_{\mathbf{S} \in \mathcal{S}}$ to denote the set of maximal cubes.

Definition 2.16 (Big Pieces). Suppose that C, C', C'' > 1, $\theta, \theta' > 0$. Suppose that $\mathcal{E} \subseteq \text{Reg}(C)$. We say that $E \in \text{Reg}(C')$ has big pieces of \mathcal{E} with constant θ , written $E \in \text{BP}(\mathcal{E})(\theta, C')$, if for for every $x \in E$ and r > 0 there exists $\Gamma \in \mathcal{E}$ such that

$$\mu(\Gamma \cap E \cap B(x,r)) \ge \theta r^d$$
.

We say that $E \in \text{Reg}(C'')$ is in $\text{BP}(\text{BP}(\mathcal{E})(\theta, C'))(\theta', C'')$, if for every $x \in E$ and r > 0 there exists $\Gamma \in \text{Reg}(C') \cap \text{BP}(\mathcal{E})(\theta, C')$ such that

$$\mu(\Gamma \cap E \cap B(x,r)) \ge \theta' r^d$$
.

Remark 2.17. It is implicit in the preceding definition that diam(E) = ∞ . We shall work with unbounded sets E (except when utilizing the localization Lemma 2.2), for the sake of convenience, but this is a minor matter. In Euclidean space with μ the Hausdorff measure, if the property in question holds in particular for d-planes, then there is a standard procedure to treat the case of bounded sets: if E is a bounded set satisfying a corona decomposition with respect to some class of sets E, and if d-planes also enjoy the corona property with respect to the same class E, then we may consider the set $E_* = E \cup P$, where P is a d-plane whose distance to E is comparable to the diameter of E. Then Theorem 1.1 says that $E_* \in BP^2(E)$, and hence E inherits the BP^2 property.

More generally, in a metric space setting one can modify our proofs *mutatis mutandis* to the bounded setting. We leave the details to the interested reader.

Remark 2.18. Below we will always establish results where the values

$$C, C', C'', \theta, \theta'$$

are all controlled by the allowable parameters. For this reason and to ease notation we will often simply write $BP(\mathcal{E})$ in place of $BP(\mathcal{E})(\theta, C')$ and $BP^2(\mathcal{E})$ in place of $BP(BP(\mathcal{E})(\theta, C'))(\theta', C'')$. We are quite sure that the reader will appreciate this.

Trading for scales (see Remark 2.3) and using the dyadic cube construction allows us to check the big pieces condition only on dyadic cubes.

Lemma 2.19 (Big pieces on cubes is big pieces). Let $\theta > 0$. Let $E \in \text{Reg}(M)$ and $\mathcal{E} \subset \text{Reg}(L)$ for some M, L > 0. There is a constant c = c(d, M), such that if for every cube $Q \in \mathbb{D}(E)$, there exists $\Gamma \in \mathcal{E}$, with

$$\mu(Q \cap \Gamma) \ge \theta \mu(Q)$$
,

then $E \in BP(\mathcal{E})(c\theta, M)$. Conversely, there is a constant c' = c'(M, d), such that if $E \in BP(\mathcal{E})(\theta, M)$, then for every cube $Q \in \mathbb{D}(E)$, there exists $\Gamma \in \mathcal{E}$ such that

$$\mu(Q \cap \Gamma) \ge c' \theta \mu(Q)$$
.

Proof. Suppose that $Q \in \mathbb{D}(E)$ there exists Γ such that $\mu(Q \cap \Gamma) \geq \theta \mu(Q)$. Let $x \in E$ and r > 0. Recall the dyadic cubes have the property that $\operatorname{diam}(Q) \approx \ell(Q) \approx \mu(Q)^{1/d}$ and $\bigcup_{Q \in \mathbb{D}_k} = Q$ with $Q \in D_k$ meaning $\ell(Q) = 2^{-k}$. Then we may choose k and $Q \in \mathbb{D}_k$ such that $k \approx \log_2 r$, $x \in Q$ and $\operatorname{diam}(Q) \leq r/2$. Thus, $Q \subset B(x, r) \cap E$ and there exists $\Gamma \in \mathcal{E}$ such that

$$\mu(B(x,r)\cap\Gamma) \ge \mu(Q\cap\Gamma) \ge \theta\mu(Q) \approx \theta\ell(Q)^d \approx \theta r^d$$
.

As the implicit constants above only depend on d and M it follows that $E \in BP(\mathcal{E})(c\theta, M)$ for some c = c(d, M) > 0.

Now suppose that $E \in \mathrm{BP}(\mathcal{E})(\theta, M)$. By the properties of dyadic cubes, there exists $a_0 > 0$ depending only on d and M such that for any cube $Q \in \mathbb{D}(E)$, $B(x_0, a_0\ell(Q)) \cap E \subseteq Q$. Let $Q \in \mathbb{D}$ then by hypothesis there exists $\Gamma \in \mathbb{E}$ such that

$$\mu(Q \cap \Gamma) \ge \mu(B(x_Q, a_0 \ell(Q)) \cap E) \ge \theta(a_0 \ell(Q))^d) \approx \theta \ell(Q)^d \approx \theta \mu(Q).$$

This proves the lemma.

2.5. β -numbers and geometric lemmas. We now state the definitions of some geometric lemmas. Here the words 'geometric lemmas' mean unilateral or bilateral closeness of a regular set to a family of sets (which are not necessarily regular), quantified in terms of a Carleson measure or Carleson set condition.

Definition 2.20 (β -numbers for general sets). Let \mathcal{A} be an arbitrary collection of (non-empty) sets. Fix $E \in \text{Reg}(C)$. For $q \in (0, \infty)$, $Q \in \mathbb{D}(E)$ we define

$$\beta_{q,\mathcal{A}}(Q) := \inf_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left\{ \mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{2Q} \left[(\operatorname{diam} Q)^{-1} \operatorname{dist}(y,A) \right]^q d\mu(y) \right\}^{1/q}.$$

and when $q = \infty$ we define for Q a dyadic cube

$$\beta_{\mathcal{A}}(Q) := \beta_{\infty,\mathcal{A}}(Q) = \inf_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left\{ \operatorname{diam}(Q)^{-1} \sup_{y \in 2Q} \operatorname{dist}(y,A) \right\}.$$

Definition 2.21 ((p,q)-general geometric lemmas). For fixed $p \in (0,\infty)$ and $q \in (0,\infty]$ we say that E satisfies the (p,q)-general geometric lemma with respect to \mathcal{A} written $E \in GLem(\mathcal{A}, p, q)$ if there exists M > 0 such that

$$\sum_{Q \subseteq R} [\beta_{q,\mathcal{A}}(Q)]^p \mu(Q) \le M \mu(R), \quad R \in \mathbb{D}(E).$$

At times, we shall want to stress the **Carleson measure constant** M and we then write $E \in GLem(\mathcal{A}, p, q, M)$.

Definition 2.22 (The weak geometric lemma). Given $\epsilon > 0$ we say that E satisfies the weak geometric lemma with parameter ϵ with respect to \mathcal{A} , written $E \in \mathrm{WGLem}(\mathcal{A}, \epsilon)$ if there exists $M_{\epsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\sum_{\substack{Q \subseteq R \\ \beta_{\mathcal{R}}(Q) > \epsilon}} \mu(Q) \leq M_{\epsilon} \, \mu(R), \quad R \in \mathbb{D}(E).$$

At times, we shall want to stress the **Carleson set constant**, and we then write $E \in \text{WGLem}(\mathcal{A}, \epsilon, M_{\epsilon})$.

Definition 2.23 (Bilateral versions and the bilateral weak geometric lemma). We also define a bilateral version of β_{∞} for any dyadic cube Q as

$$b\beta_{\mathcal{A}}(Q) := \operatorname{diam}(Q)^{-1} \inf_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left\{ \sup_{y \in 2Q} \operatorname{dist}(y, A) + \sup_{z \in A \cap B(x_Q, 2 \operatorname{diam}(Q))} \operatorname{dist}(z, E) \right\} ,$$

where x_Q is the 'center' of Q, as in (2.6). We say E satisfies the bilateral weak geometric lemma with parameter ϵ with respect to \mathcal{A} , written $E \in \mathrm{BWGLem}(\mathcal{A}, \epsilon)$ if there exists $M_{\epsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\sum_{\substack{Q\subseteq R\\b\beta, R(Q)>\epsilon}}\mu(Q)\leq M_\epsilon\,\mu(R),\quad R\in\mathbb{D}(E).$$

We shall write $E \in BWGLem(A, \epsilon, M_{\epsilon})$ when we want to stress the **Carleson set** constant.

Remark 2.24. The 'dilation parameter' 2 in the definitions of β and $b\beta$ could be replaced by any $\kappa \ge 2$, i.e., with κQ , $\kappa \operatorname{diam}(Q)$ in place of 2Q, $2 \operatorname{diam}(Q)$.

Remark 2.25. Concerning the definition of $b\beta(Q)$, if the set

$$(2.26) A \cap B(x_Q, 2 \operatorname{diam}(Q)) = \emptyset,$$

with x_Q as in (2.6), then we set $\sup_{z \in A \cap B(x_Q, 2 \operatorname{diam}(Q))} \operatorname{dist}(z, E) = 0$. This is not a problem in applications as ϵ in the definition of BWGLem $(A, \epsilon, M_{\epsilon})$ is typically (very) small, and when (2.26) holds, the first term in $b\beta$ is greater than or equal to 1. For instance, the membership $E \in \operatorname{BWGLem}(\mathcal{A}, \epsilon, M_{\epsilon})$ and $E \in \operatorname{WGLem}(\mathcal{A}, \epsilon, M_{\epsilon})$ hold vacuously for any regular set E whenever $\epsilon > 2$ and \mathcal{A} is any collection of sets such that for every $x \in X$ there exists $A \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $x \in A$ (e.g. $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ and \mathcal{A} is the collection of all d-dimensional affine spaces).

Remark 2.27. In the literature, the weak and bilateral weak geometric lemmas are often stated in a 'parameterless' manner. In particular, we say the weak geometric lemma holds for E if there is a function $\gamma:(0,1]\to\mathbb{R}$ such that $E\in \mathrm{WGLem}(\mathcal{A},\epsilon,\gamma(\epsilon))$, for every $\epsilon\in(0,1]$.

Remark 2.28. We would like to point out that the 'choice' of dyadic grid is not important in the definitions of the geometric lemmas, provided one is willing to lose something in the parameters (ϵ and the Carleson constants). For instance, if $E \in GLem(\mathcal{A}, p, q, M)$ with respect to some grid \mathbb{D} then $E \in GLem(\mathcal{A}, p, q, M')$ for any other grid \mathbb{D} , where M' depends only on M, d, and the regularity of E.

2.6. **Stability of geometric lemmas under the 'big piece functor'.** We here state three propositions concerning the stability of geometric lemmas defined in the previous subsction under the 'big piece functor'. The proofs of these propositions can be found in Appendix A. Concerning the general geometric lemma, weak geometric lemma and bilateral weak geometric lemma the following hold.

Proposition 2.29. Let \mathcal{A} be a collection of subsets of X. Let $C_* > 1$, $\theta, M > 0$ and $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$ satisfy

$$\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{d} > 0.$$

Suppose that $E \in \text{Reg}(C_*)$ and that

$$\mathcal{E} \subset \text{Reg}(C_*) \cap \text{GLem}(\mathcal{A}, p, q, M).$$

If $E \in BP(\mathcal{E})(\theta, C)$ then $E \in GLem(\mathcal{A}, p, q, M')$, where M' depends on C_*, θ, M, p, q and dimension.

Proposition 2.30. Let \mathcal{A} be a collection of subsets of X. Let $C_* > 1$, $\epsilon, \theta, M > 0$. Suppose that $E \in \text{Reg}(C_*)$ and

$$\mathcal{E} \subset \text{Reg}(C_*) \cap \text{WGLem}(\mathcal{A}, \epsilon, M).$$

If $E \in BP(\mathcal{E})(\theta, C_*)$ then $E \in WGLem(\mathcal{A}, C\epsilon, M')$, where C depends only on dimension and C_* and M' depends on C_* , $\epsilon, \theta, M > 0$ and dimension.

Proposition 2.31. Let \mathcal{A} be a collection of subsets of X. Let $C_* > 1$, $\epsilon, \theta, M > 0$. Suppose that $E \in \text{Reg}(C_*)$ and

$$\mathcal{E} \subset \text{Reg}(C_*) \cap \text{BWGLem}(\mathcal{A}, \epsilon, M).$$

If $E \in BP(\mathcal{E})(\theta, C_*)$ then $E \in BWGLem(\mathcal{A}, C\epsilon, M')$, where C depends only on dimension and C_* and M' depends on C_* , $\epsilon, \theta, M > 0$ and dimension.

Remark 2.32. We remark that in the statements of the preceding propositions, there is no loss of generality to assume that the d-regularity constants for E and E are the same, as in general we may simply take the larger of the two. This same remark applies in the sequel.

3. Proof of Theorem 1.1

In this section we prove Theorem 1.1. Using the notation introduced in the previous section the following is the precise formulation of Theorem 1.1 and this is the statement that we will prove. We observe that Remark 2.32 applies here.

Let $C_* > 1$. Suppose that $E \in \text{Reg}(C_*)$ and let $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{D}(E)$ be the set of dyadic cubes as Lemma 2.5. Assume that $\mathcal{E} \subseteq \text{Reg}(C_*)$ and that E admits an (η, K) -coronization (see Definition 2.14) with respect to \mathcal{E} for some $\eta > 0$ and K > 1. Then $E \in \text{BP}^2(\mathcal{E})$ with constants depending on C_* , d, η , K and $C_{\eta,K}$ (the constant in Definition 2.14).

From this point forward we assume that $E \in \text{Reg}(C_*)$, $\mathcal{E} \subseteq \text{Reg}(C_*)$ and that E admits an (η, K) -coronization with respect to \mathcal{E} for some $\eta > 0$ and K > 1. We define

(3.1)
$$\alpha_Q := \begin{cases} \mu(Q), & \text{if } Q \in \mathcal{M} \cup \mathcal{B}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

and we let m be the discrete measure with respect to $\{\alpha_Q\}_{Q\in\mathbb{D}}$. Note that by assumption

Let $Q \in \mathbf{S}$ for some $\mathbf{S} \in \mathcal{S}$ and let $\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}$ be the set in \mathcal{E} supplied by the coronization. Let $X_Q \in \Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}$ be such that $\operatorname{dist}(X_Q, x_Q) < \eta \ell(Q)$, where lower case x_Q is the 'center' of Q as in (2.6). Let $\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}(Q) := (\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}})_{X_Q, C_Q \ell(Q)}$ be the d-regular localization of $\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}$ as in Lemma 2.2, where, by the triangle inequality and (2.15), we can choose $C_0 \gtrsim_{d,C_*} (K + \eta)$ such that $\Gamma_S(Q)$ satisfies

(3.3)
$$\sup_{x \in KQ'} \operatorname{dist}(x, \Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}(Q)) < \eta \, \ell(Q'), \quad \forall Q' \subseteq Q, Q \in \mathbf{S}$$

and

$$\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}(Q) \subset B(x_O, 5C_0\ell(Q)).$$

Here we use that $\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}} \cap B(X_Q, C_0\ell(Q)) \subseteq \Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}(Q)$ and the properties of the dyadic cubes. Recall by construction (see Lemma 2.2) that $\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}(Q_0)$ is closed, $cC_0\ell(Q) \leq \operatorname{diam}(\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}) \leq 3C_0\ell(Q)$ for a constant c depending only on d and C_* and that $\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}(Q) \in \operatorname{Reg}(2^{6d}10^dC_*, 10C_0\ell(Q))$. (Note that we can always use Lemma 2.4, to prove that $\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}(Q) \in \operatorname{Reg}(2^{6d}10^dM^dC_*, MC_0\ell(Q))$ for any fixed M and we will do so below.)

By perhaps taking C_0 larger (depending on d and C_*) we may also assume that if $Q' \in \mathbb{D}(E)$ and Q^* is the grandparent of Q' then $\operatorname{diam}(Q^*) \leq C_0 \ell(Q')$. In particular, with this extra condition on C_0 and Q', Q^* as above

$$dist(x_{Q'}, x_{Q^*}) \le C_0 \ell(Q').$$

3.1. **Preliminary observations.** We here record two important observations as lemmas.

Lemma 3.4. Fix $x \in E$ and $\mathbf{S} \in S$. If there exists an (infinite) nested sequence of cubes $Q_0 \supseteq Q_1 \supseteq Q_2 \ldots$, with $x \in Q_k$ and $Q_k \in \mathbf{S}$, then $x \in \Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}(Q_0)$.

Proof. The proof of this lemma is simple. Since $Q_{k+1} \subsetneq Q_k$, it follows that $\ell(Q_k) \le 2^{-k}\ell(Q_0)$. Then (3.3) gives that $\operatorname{dist}(x, \Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}(Q_0)) \le 2^{-k}\ell(Q_0)$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}(Q_0)$ is closed, $x \in \Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}(Q_0)$.

Lemma 3.5. If $Q_0 \in \mathbb{D}(E)$, \mathcal{F} is a collection of pairwise disjoint subcubes of Q_0 and

$$\|\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{F}}\|_{C(O_0)} \le 1/2$$

then there exists $\mathbf{S} \in \mathcal{S}$ such that $Q \in \mathbf{S}$ whenever $Q \in \mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F}, O_0}$.

Proof. This proof is also simple but requires chasing a few definitions. We first note that we can assume that $\mathcal{F} \neq \{Q_0\}$, as otherwise the lemma is vacuously true. For $Q \in \mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F}, Q_0}$ we have

$$\alpha_Q/\mu(Q) \le \mathfrak{m}(Q)/\mu(Q) \le ||\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{F}}||_{C(Q_0)} \le 1/2.$$

By definition $\alpha_Q/\mu(Q) \in \{0, 1\}$ and hence $Q \in \mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F},Q_0}$ can never be a maximal or a bad cube.

Let S_0 be the stopping time regime such that $Q_0 \in S_0$. Suppose, for the sake of contradiction, that $Q \in \mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F},Q_0}$ but $Q \notin S_0$. Since Q is not maximal or bad, it must be the case that $Q \in S$ for some $S \neq S_0$. It can't be the case that $Q_0 \subseteq Q(S)$ (the maximal cube for S) as by coherency of the stopping time regimes, $Q_0 \in S$, which would yield a contradiction. On the other hand, if $Q(S) \subset Q_0$ then since $Q \subset Q(S)$ we have $Q(S) \in \mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F},Q_0}$. This is contradiction to the fact that $\mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F},Q_0}$ contains no maximal cubes.

Combining the two lemmas above, we obtain the following.

Lemma 3.6. Let $Q_0 \in \mathbb{D}(E)$ and $\mathcal{F} = \{Q_j\}_j$ be a collection of pairwise disjoint subcubes of Q_0 , with $\mathcal{F} \neq \{Q_0\}$ and

$$\|\mathbf{m}_{\mathcal{F}}\|_{C(O_0)} \le 1/2.$$

Let S_0 be the stopping time regime such that $Q_0 \in S_0$, which exists by Lemma 3.5. Set $A = Q_0 \setminus \bigcup_j Q_j$. If $x \in A$ then $x \in \Gamma_{S_0}(Q_0)$.

Proof. If $x \in A$ then, by properties of dyadic cubes for $Q \in \mathbb{D}_{Q_0}$ with $x \in Q$ we have that Q is not contained in \mathbb{D}_{Q_j} for any j since this would imply that $x \in Q_j$. Thus $Q \in \mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F},Q_0}$ and it follows from Lemma 3.5 that $Q \in S_0$. Then let Q_i , $i = 0, 1, 2 \dots$ be such that Q_{i+1} is the unique subcube of Q_i such that $x \in Q_{i+1}$. Then $x \in Q_i$ and the collection Q_i satisfy the hypothesis of Lemma 3.4 and hence $x \in \Gamma_{S_0}(Q_0)$. \square

3.2. **Proof of Theorem 1.1 by induction.** We are now ready to prove Theorem 1.1 and the proof proceeds via induction. We form two statements.

For $a \ge 0$, let H(a) be the following statement: There exists positive constants $c_a, c'_a, C'_a, \theta_a$ such that if $\mathfrak{m}(\mathbb{D}_{Q_0}) < a\mu(Q_0)$, then there exists F_{Q_0} with the following properties:

- (i) $F_{Q_0} \subset B(x_{Q_0}, 20C_0\ell(Q_0))$ and $diam(F_{Q_0}) \ge c_a\ell(Q_0)$.
- (ii) $F_{Q_0} \in \text{Reg}(C_a', C_0\ell(Q))$ and F_{Q_0} is in BP(\mathcal{E}) up to the scale $C_0\ell(Q_0)$, that is, for every $x \in F_{Q_0}$ and $r \in (0, C_0\ell(Q_0))$ there exists $\Gamma = \Gamma(x, r) \in \mathcal{E}$ such that

$$\mu(\Gamma \cap F_{O_0} \cap B(x,r)) \ge \theta_a r^d$$
.

(iii)
$$\mu(F_{Q_0} \cap Q_0) \ge c'_a \mu(Q_0)$$
.

We also formulate another hypothesis. For $a \ge 0$ let $H^*(a)$ be the following statement: There exists positive constants $c_a, c'_a, C'_a, \theta_a$ such that If $\mathfrak{m}(\mathbb{D}_{Q_0}) < a\mu(Q_0)$ then there exists F_{Q_0} with the following properties:

(I) $F_{Q_0} \in \text{Reg}(C_a')$ and $F_{Q_0} \in \text{BP}(\mathcal{E})(\theta_a, C_a')$. Recall this means for every $x \in F_{Q_0}$ and $r \in (0, \infty)$ there exists $\Gamma \in \mathcal{E}$ such that

$$\mu(\Gamma \cap F_{Q_0} \cap B(x,r)) \ge \theta_a r^d.$$

(II)
$$\mu(F_{Q_0} \cap Q_0) \ge c'_a \mu(Q_0)$$
.

Using Lemma 2.19 we see that to prove the theorem it is enough to verify that $H^*(a)$ holds for all $a \in [0, C_{\eta,K}]$, with bounds depending only on a and allowable parameters. In particular, we want to prove that $H^*(C_{\eta,K})$ holds as, by the definition of the coronization, $\mathfrak{m}(\mathbb{D}_Q) \leq C_{\eta,K}\mu(Q)$ for all $Q \in \mathbb{D}$. Notice hypothesis H(a) is a localized version of $H^*(a)$. A crucial part of the proof below is taking unions of these constructions in a way that does not destroy the ADR property. We will prove these statements simultaneously as the proofs are similar.

We first verify that H(0) and $H^*(0)$ hold, which is essentially trivial. Indeed, $\mathfrak{m}(\mathbb{D}_{Q_0})=0$ implies that $\|\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{F}}\|_{C(Q_0)}=0\leq 1/2$ with $\mathcal{F}=\emptyset$. Then $A=Q_0$ in Lemma 3.6 and hence $Q_0\in \mathbf{S}_0$ for some $\mathbf{S}_0\in \mathcal{S}$ with $Q_0\subset \Gamma_{\mathbf{S}}(Q_0)$. To verify H(0) we take $F_{Q_0}=\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}_0}(Q_0)$ and property (iii) is satisfied with $c_a'=1$. By construction $\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}_0}(Q_0)$ has all the properties necessary in H(0). To verify $H^*(0)$ we take $F_{Q_0}=1$

 Γ_{S_0} . Since $\Gamma_{S_0}(Q_0) \subset \Gamma_{S_0}$ we have that property (II) is satisfied with $c'_a = 1$ and the other properties hold trivially.

We now fix b > 0 depending on d and C_* , such that $Cb \le 1/2$, where C is from Lemma 2.10. We prove that if H(a) and $H^*(a)$ hold then H(a+b) and $H^*(a+b)$ hold.

Let Q_0 be such that $\mathfrak{m}(\mathbb{D}_{Q_0}) \leq (a+b)\mu(Q_0)$. We apply Lemma 2.10 to Q_0 to obtain $\mathcal{F}=\{Q_j\}$, a collection of pairwise disjoint subcubes of Q_0 , with the properties stated in Lemma 2.10. An important observation is that by our choice of b we have

$$\|\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{F}}\|_{C(O_0)} \le 1/2,$$

and this allows us to utilize Lemmas 3.5 and 3.6 (in the case $\mathcal{F} \neq \{Q_0\}$).

We define the following objects²: $\mathcal{G} := \mathcal{F} \setminus \mathcal{B}$, where \mathcal{B} is from Lemma 2.10 and $G = \bigcup_{Q_j \in \mathcal{G}} Q_j$. Set $\gamma_a = 1 - \frac{a+b}{a+2b} > 0$ and let $A = Q_0 \setminus (\bigcup_{Q_j \in \mathcal{F}} Q_j)$. By Lemma 2.10 we have that $\mu(B) \leq (1 - \gamma_a)\mu(Q_0)$ so that

$$\mu(A \cup G) = \mu(Q_0 \cap B^c) \ge \gamma_a \mu(Q_0).$$

This allows us to consider two cases.

Case 1: $\mu(A) > (\gamma_a/2)\mu(Q_0)$. In this case, we use Lemma 3.6 to say that there exists S_0 , a stopping time regime, such that $Q_0 \in S_0$, and $x \in A$ implies that $x \in \Gamma_{S_0}(Q_0)$. To verify H(a) (in Case 1) we again take $F_{Q_0} = \Gamma_{S_0}(Q_0)$ and since $A \subset \Gamma_{S_0}(Q_0)$ we have $\mu(F_{Q_0} \cap Q_0) \ge \gamma_a/2\mu(Q_0)$ so that property (iii) holds. As the other properties ((i) and (ii)) hold by construction, this takes care of this case for H(a). To verify $H^*(a)$ (in Case 1) we take $F_{Q_0} = \Gamma_{S_0}$.

Case 2: $\mu(G) \ge (\gamma_a/2)\mu(Q_0)$. We decompose this case further.

Case2a: $\mathcal{F} = \{Q_0\}$. In this case, $\mathfrak{m}(\mathbb{D}_{Q_0} \setminus \{Q_0\}) \leq a\mu(Q_0)$ (otherwise $B = Q_0$ which violates the second property in Lemma 2.10). By definition of \mathfrak{m} (and pigeonholing) there exists Q_0' a child of Q_0 for which $\mathfrak{m}(Q_0') \leq a\mu(Q_0')$. In this case we may apply the induction hypothesis³ to Q_0' . Upon allowing the constants to get "worse", accommodating for the fact that $\ell(Q_0') = (1/2)\ell(Q_0)$ we have that H(a+b) and $H^*(a+b)$ hold in this case.

Case2b: $\mathcal{F} \neq \{Q_0\}$. By definition of \mathcal{G} , for every $Q_j \in \mathcal{G}$ there exists Q_j , a child of Q_j , for which it holds that $\mathfrak{m}(\widetilde{Q}_j) \leq a\mu(\widetilde{Q}_j)$. Thus, we can apply the induction hypothesis to any $\widetilde{Q}_j \in \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$, the collection of all children of the cubes in \mathcal{G} satisfying $\mathfrak{m}(\widetilde{Q}_j) \leq a\mu(\widetilde{Q}_j)$. Before we do that, we need to work with a collection of separated \widetilde{Q}_j so that later we can maintain the upper regularity when we combine the sets $F_{\widetilde{Q}_j}$ from the induction hypothesis. Using a standard covering lemma argument,

²Here and below for notational convenience we take \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{G} to be collections obtained by using Lemma 2.10, and not the collections from the corona decomposition. When we wish to describe a cube from the corona decomposition, we will use the words to 'good', 'bad' or 'maximal' cube.

³Here we apply H(a) when trying to prove H(a+b) and $H^*(a)$ when we are trying to prove $H^*(a+b)$.

we extract from $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$ a *finite*⁴ collection of cubes $\mathcal{G}' = \{Q_i'\} \subseteq \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$ such that

$$\mu(\cup_{G'}Q'_i) \gtrsim \mu(\cup_G Q_i) = \mu(G) \gtrsim (\gamma_a/2)\mu(Q_0),$$

where the implicit constants depend on d and C_* , and

$$\operatorname{dist}(Q_j', Q_k') \ge 80C_0 \max\{\ell(Q_j'), \ell(Q_k')\}, \quad \forall Q_j', Q_k' \in \mathcal{G}'(j \neq k).$$

Remark 3.7. Recall that since $\|\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{F}}\| \leq Cb < 1/2$ and $Q_0 \notin \mathcal{F}$ it must be the case that $Q_0 \in \mathbf{S}_0$ for some stopping time regime \mathbf{S}_0 and, in fact, we have, by Lemma 3.5, that every cube $Q \in \mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F},Q_0}$ has the property that $Q \in \mathbf{S}_0$ as well. In particular, if for every $Q'_j \in \mathcal{G}'$ we write Q^*_j to denote the grandparent of Q'_j we have $Q^*_j \in \mathbb{D}_{\mathcal{F},Q_0}$ and hence $Q^*_j \in \mathbf{S}_0$.

To proceed with **Case2b** we now construct the set F_{Q_0} . If we are proving H(a+b) we set $F_0 := \Gamma_{S_0}(Q_0)$, where S_0 is the stopping time regime such that $Q_0 \in S_0$. If we are proving $H^*(a+b)$, we take $F_0 = \Gamma_{S_0}$ (as usual). Now, regardless of whether we are proving H(a+b) or $H^*(a+b)$, for each $Q'_j \in \mathcal{G}'$, we apply the induction hypothesis H(a) and we let

$$F_j := F_{Q'_i}$$

be the set satisfying properties (i), (ii), (iii) (adapted to the scale/size of Q'_j). Finally, we set

$$F_{Q_0} = \cup_{i=0}^N F_j.$$

Note that F_{Q_0} is a closed set, because it is the *finite* union of closed sets. We now verify that the set F_{Q_0} has the necessary properties. When proving H(a + b) we see that property (i) holds rather trivially, using the triangle inequality⁵. The next easiest property to verify is (iii) (or (II) when proving $H^*(a + b)$) and we do that next.

 F_{Q_0} has property (iii) (or (II) when proving $H^*(a+b)$): Recall that we have shown that $\mu(\cup_{G'}Q'_j) \gtrsim \mu(Q_0)$, where the implicit constant depends on d and the regularity constant for E. Also, by property (iii) for F_j we have that $\mu(F_j \cap Q'_j) \geq c'_a \mu(Q'_j)$. As the Q'_j are pairwise disjoint it follows that

$$\mu(Q_0 \cap F_{Q_0}) \ge \sum_{j \ge 1} \mu(Q'_j \cap F_j) \ge \sum_{j \ge 1} c'_a \mu(Q'_j) \gtrsim \mu(Q_0),$$

which yields property (iii).

It remains to verify property (ii) (or (I) when proving $H^*(a+b)$) for F_{Q_0} and we decompose the verification into two steps: F_{Q_0} satisfies the upper regularity condition and F_{Q_0} satisfies the lower regularity condition and $F_{Q_0} \in BP(\mathcal{E})$.

 F_{Q_0} satisfies the upper regularity condition: Here we prove the upper bound in the definition of $\operatorname{Reg}(C'_a, C_0\ell(Q))$ (when proving H(a+b)) or $\operatorname{Reg}(C'_a)$ (when proving $H^*(a+b)$). The proof is the same in either case (H(a+b)) or $H^*(a+b)$).

⁴Aside from finiteness, we do not control the cardinality. This is done only to ensure the union is also closed.

⁵Here we use that $x_{Q'_j} \in B(x_{Q_0}, C_0\ell(Q_0))$ so that $B(x_{Q'_j}, 20C_0\ell(Q'_j)) \subset B(x_{Q_0}, 20C_0\ell(Q'_j) + C_0\ell(Q_0)) \subset B(x_{Q_0}, 20C_0\ell(Q_0))$, where we use that $\ell(Q'_j) = (1/2)\ell(Q_j) \leq (1/2)\ell(Q_0)$. Thus, using property (i) for Q'_j we have $F_j \subset B(x_{Q_0}, 20C_0\ell(Q_0))$.

Let $x \in F_{Q_0}$ and $r \in (0, \infty)$. We consider the contributions from F_0 and $\{F_j\}_{j \geq 1}$ separately. Notice that $F_0 \subset \Gamma_{\mathbf{S}_0}$ regardless of whether we are showing H(a+b) or $H^*(a+b)$, so that F_0 satisfies the upper regularity condition. If B(x,r) meets F_0 then $B(x,r) \subset B(y,2r)$ for some $y \in F_0$ and hence $\mu(B(x,r) \cap F_0) \leq \mu(B(y,2r) \cap F_0) \leq r^n$ by the upper regularity property for F_0 . We dominate the contribution from the union of the sets $\{F_j\}_{j \geq 1}$ by

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j\geq 1} \mu(B(x,r)\cap F_j) &\leq \sum_{j:\ell(Q_j')>r} \mu(B(x,r)\cap F_j) + \sum_{j:\ell(Q_j')\leq r} \mu(B(x,r)\cap F_j) \\ &=: T_1 + T_2. \end{split}$$

We first handle the term T_1 and we will see there is at most one non-zero term in T_1 . Note that by hypothesis $F_j \subset B(x_{Q'_j}, 20C_0\ell(Q'_j))$ so that (as $C_0 > 1$) if B(x, r) meets F_j with $\ell(Q'_j) > r$, then $B(x, r) \subset B(x_{Q'_j}, 21C_0\ell(Q'_j))$. If B(x, r) were to meet F_k for $k \neq j$ then

$$B(x_{Q'_i}, 21C_0\ell(Q'_i)) \cap B(x_{Q'_i}, 21C_0\ell(Q'_k)) \neq \emptyset,$$

and this contradicts the fact that $\operatorname{dist}(Q_j',Q_k') \geq 80C_0 \max\{\ell(Q_j'),\ell(Q_k')\}$. Thus, $T_1 = 0$ or $T_1 = \mu(B(x,r) \cap F_j)$ for a single F_j with $\ell(Q_j') > r$ and, in that case, we can use the upper regularity of F_j to conclude that $T_1 \leq r^d$.

We next handle the term T_2 . The collection of F_j with $\ell(Q'_j) \le r$ is contained in B(x,Cr) ($C=80C_0$ will do). Using the upper regularity for F_j we have $\mu(F_j) \le \operatorname{diam}(F_j)^d \le \ell(Q'_j)^d \le \mu(Q'_j)$ and using that $F_j \subset B(x_{Q'_j},20C_0\ell(Q'_j))$ we have $Q'_j \subset B(x,2Cr)$. Thus

$$\begin{split} T_2 &= \sum_{j: \ell(Q'_j) \leq r} \mu(F_j \cap B(x, r)) \\ &\lesssim \sum_{j: Q'_i \subset B(x, 2Cr)} \mu(Q'_j) \leq \mu(B(x, Cr) \cap E) \lesssim r^d, \end{split}$$

where we have used that $E \in \text{Reg}(C_*)$. This shows that F_{Q_0} satisfies the upper regularity condition.

 F_{Q_0} satisfies the lower regularity condition and $F_{Q_0} \in BP(\mathcal{E})$: Let $x \in F_{Q_0}$ and r > 0 with the further restriction that $r < C_0 \ell(Q)$ in the case we are proving H(a+b). We decompose the proof into cases:

Case
$$\alpha$$
: $x \in F_0$.
Case β : $x \in F_j$ for some $j \ge 1$ and $r < (800 + \eta)C_0\ell(Q'_j)$.
Case γ : $x \in F_j$ for some $j \ge 1$ and $r \ge (800 + \eta)C_0\ell(Q'_j)$.

Case α : $x \in F_0$. In this case, if we are trying to prove H(a+b) we just use that $F_0 \in \text{Reg}(2^{6d}C_*, C_0\ell(Q))$ and $F_0 \subset \Gamma_{S_0}$ with $\Gamma_{S_0} \in \mathcal{E}$. Thus, by construction F_0 satisfies the lower regularity condition and is BP(\mathcal{E}) (up to scale $\ell(Q_0)$). In particular, $\mu(B(x,r) \cap F_{Q_0}) \geq \mu(B(x,r) \cap F_0) \geq r^d$ and the set $B(x,r) \cap F_0$ is a subset of a set in \mathcal{E} . This takes care of case α when showing H(a+b). When showing $H^*(a+b)$, the proof is almost identical.

Case β : $x \in F_j$ for some $j \ge 1$ and $r < (800 + \eta)C_0\ell(Q'_j)$. In this case, we simply use the BP(\mathcal{E}) and lower regularity conditions for F_j . In particular,

$$\mu(B(x,r) \cap F_{Q_0}) \ge \mu(B(x,r) \cap F_i) \gtrsim r^n$$

by the lower regularity property of F_j and using the BP($\mathcal E$) property of F_j there exists $\Gamma \in \mathcal E$ such that $\mu(B(x,r) \cap F_{Q_0} \cap \Gamma) \ge \mu(B(x,r) \cap F_j \cap \Gamma) \gtrsim r^n$. (Recall that these properties hold for F_j up to the scale $\ell(Q_j)$ by property (ii) for F_j .) This takes care of case β .

Case γ : $x \in F_j$ for some $j \ge 1$ and $r \ge (800 + \eta)C_0\ell(Q_j')$. Recall by the discussion above (see Remark 3.7) that Q_j^* the grandparent of Q_j' is in the stopping time regime \mathbf{S}_0 and hence, by choice of C_0 , $\operatorname{dist}(x_{Q_j^*}, \Gamma_{\mathbf{S}_0}(Q_0)) \le \eta\ell(Q_j^*)$. Moreover, by the choice of C_0 we have that $\operatorname{dist}(x_{Q_j'}, x_{Q_j^*}) \le C_0\ell(Q_j)$ and $F_j \subset B(x_{Q_j'}, 40C_0\ell(Q_j'))$. Thus, there exists $z \in \Gamma_{\mathbf{S}_0}(Q_0)$ such that $\operatorname{dist}(x_{Q_j'}, z) < \eta\ell(Q_j') + 80C_0\ell(Q_j')$ and the condition on r shows that $B(z, r/2) \subset B(x, r)$. Now, using the arguments of case α with r replaced by r/2 (which produces slightly worse estimates) we can conclude that case γ can be taken care of

We have now proved property (ii) if we were trying to prove H(a + b) (or (I) when proving $H^*(a + b)$) and hence H(a + b) and $H^*(a + b)$ hold.

4. Applications to parabolic uniform rectifiability

In this section we use Theorem 1.1, Theorem 1.2 and results from [BHHLN1] to give a new characterization of parabolic uniformly rectifiable sets. We consider $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and we will always assume that $n \ge 1$. We consider the Euclidean (n + 1)-space \mathbb{R}^{n+1} where points will be denoted by $(Y,t) = (y_1, \ldots, y_n, t)$, where $Y = (y_1, \ldots, y_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and t represents the time-coordinate. Let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the standard inner product on \mathbb{R}^n and let $|Y| = \langle Y, Y \rangle^{1/2}$ be the Euclidean norm of Y. We let $||(Y,t)|| := |Y| + |t|^{1/2}$. Given $(Y,t), (Z,s) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ we let

$$d_p(Y,t,Z,s) = d_p((Y,t),(Z,s)) = |Y-Z| + |t-s|^{1/2}.$$

Throughout the section we consider the triple

$$(X, \text{dist}, \mu) : X := \mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \text{ dist} := d_p, \ \mu := H_p^{n+1},$$

and we let

$$d := n + 1$$
.

Here H_p^{n+1} is the parabolic Hausdorff measure defined by

$$H_p^{n+1}(E) := \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} H_{p,\delta}^{n+1}(E),$$

where

$$H^{n+1}_{p,\delta}(E) = \inf \left\{ \sum \operatorname{diam}(E_j)^{n+1} : E \subseteq \cup_j E_j, \operatorname{diam}(E_j) \le \delta \right\}$$

(the diameter is taken with respect to the parabolic distance). We also let \mathcal{P} denote the set of hyperplanes in X containing a line parallel to the t axis.

As noted in the introduction, in [HLN1], [HLN2] the third and fifth author, together with John Lewis, introduced a notion⁶ of parabolic uniformly rectifiable sets. Using the notation introduced the paper this notion of parabolic uniformly rectifiable sets can be defined as follows.

Definition 4.1. Let $E \subset X$. E is parabolic uniformly rectifiable set, or E is uniformly rectifiable in the parabolic sense, if $E \in \text{Reg}(C) \cap \text{GLem}(\mathcal{P}, 2, 2)$, for some finite $C \geq 1$.

To introduce the Lipschitz type graphs of which we want to consider big pieces, we first note that in [H2], [HL], [LM], [LS], [M] the authors established the correct notion of (time-dependent) regular parabolic Lipschitz graphs from the point of view of parabolic singular integrals and parabolic measure. To expand a bit on this, recall that $\psi : \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is called Lip(1,1/2), or Lip(1,1/2) regular, with constant b, if

$$(4.2) |\psi(x,t) - \psi(y,s)| \le b(|x-y| + |t-s|^{1/2})$$

whenever $(x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $(y, s) \in \mathbb{R}^n$. $\Gamma = \Gamma_{\psi} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ is said to be a (unbounded) Lip(1, 1/2) graph, with constant b, if

(4.3)
$$\Gamma = \Gamma_{\psi} = \{(x, x_n, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} : x_n = \psi(x, t)\}$$

for some Lip(1,1/2) function ψ having Lip(1,1/2) constant bounded by b. $\psi = \psi(x,t) : \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is called a regular parabolic Lip(1,1/2) function with parameters b_1 and b_2 , if ψ satisfies

(i)
$$|\psi(x,t) - \psi(y,t)| \le b_1 |x-y|, x,y \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}, t \in \mathbb{R},$$

(4.4)
$$(ii)$$
 $D_{1/2}^t \psi \in BMO(\mathbb{R}^n), ||D_{1/2}^t \psi||_* \le b_2 < \infty.$

Here $D_{1/2}^t \psi(x,t)$ denotes the 1/2 derivative in t of $\psi(x,\cdot)$, x fixed. This half derivative in time can be defined by way of the Fourier transform or by

(4.5)
$$D_{1/2}^t \psi(x,t) \equiv \hat{c} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{\psi(x,s) - \psi(x,t)}{|s-t|^{3/2}} ds$$

for properly chosen \hat{c} . $\|\cdot\|_*$ denotes the norm in parabolic $BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For a definition of the space parabolic $BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ we refer to [HLN1]. It is well known, see [HL], that if ψ is a regular parabolic Lip(1,1/2) function with parameters b_1 and b_2 , then ψ is Lip(1,1/2) regular with constant $b=b(b_1,b_2)$. However, there are examples of functions ψ which are Lip(1,1/2) regular but not regular parabolic Lip(1,1/2), see [LS].

Definition 4.6. We say that Γ is a regular (or good) parabolic graph with parameters b_1 and b_2 , $\Gamma \in GPG(b_1,b_2)$ for short or simply $\Gamma \in GPG$ if the parameters are implicit, if after a possible rotation of the spatial variables $\Gamma = \Gamma_{\psi}$ can be represented as in (4.3) for some a regular parabolic Lip(1,1/2) function $\psi = \psi(x,t) : \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ with parameters b_1 and b_2 .

⁶In the original works of Hofmann, Lewis and Nyström the product measure $H^{n-1} \times H^1$ was used. This is unnecessary restrictive as was shown in [BHHLN1]. In fact, using the methods here, one can show that the weaker notion, using H_p^{n+1} implies the stronger notion using the product measure. This is discussed in detail in [BHHLN1].

We next formulate the following lemma which states that good parabolic graphs are uniformly rectifiable in the parabolic sense.

Lemma 4.7. Assume that after a possible rotation of the spatial variables $\Gamma = \Gamma_{\psi}$ can be represented as in (4.3) for a Lip(1,1/2) function ψ . Then Γ is uniformly rectifiable in the parabolic sense if and only if $D_{1/2}^t \psi \in BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$, in particular, if $\Gamma \in GPG(b_1, b_2)$ then $\Gamma \in GLem(\mathcal{P}, 2, 2, M)$, where M only depends on d, b_1, b_2 .

Proof. The fact that $\Gamma \in \operatorname{GPG}(b_1, b_2)$ implies $\Gamma \in \operatorname{GLem}(\mathcal{P}, 2, 2, M)$, with M depending on d, b_1, b_2 , is proved in [H2, pp. 249-251]. In [H2] a different formulation of the half-order derivative condition was used, but the two formulations are equivalent for Lip(1,1/2) graphs, as is proved in [HL, Section 7]. The converse implication, i.e., that if Γ is uniformly rectifiable then $D_{1/2}^t \psi \in BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$, is proved in [HLN1, pp. 370-373]. For both of these implications, the proofs in the cited references are given in terms of continuous parameter versions of β , rather than the dyadic version, but it is easy to see that a Carleson measure condition for the former is equivalent to a dyadic Carleson measure condition for the latter.

To proceed we next state the following result concerning Corona decompositions of parabolic uniformly rectifiable sets. The theorem is proved in [BHHLN1].

Theorem 4.8. Let $E \subset X$ and assume that $E \in \text{Reg}(C_*) \cap \text{GLem}(\mathcal{P}, 2, 2, M)$, i.e., E is uniformly rectifiable in the parabolic sense. Suppose $0 < \eta$ and K > 1. Then there exists b_1, b_2 , both depending at most of d, C_* , M and η , K such that E admits an (η, K) -coronization with respect to $\mathcal{E} = \text{GPG}(b_1, b_2)$.

Using Theorem 4.8 we are able to specify and apply Theorem 1.1 and Theorem 1.2 to the parabolic setting. Theorem 1.1 yields the following.

Theorem 4.9. Suppose that $E \in \text{Reg}(C_*)$ admits a coronization with respect to $\mathcal{E} = \text{GPG}(b_1, b_2)$ for some fixed b_1, b_2 . Then $E \in \text{BP}^2(\text{GPG}(b_1, b_2))$ with constants depending on d, C_*, b_1, b_2 and the constants in the coronization.

Theorem 4.7 says that $\Gamma \in GPG(b_1, b_2)$ implies $\Gamma \in GLem(\mathcal{P}, 2, 2, M)$ with $M = M(b_1, b_2, d)$. It is easy to deduce the weak geometric lemma from the geometric lemma (see, e.g., [HLN1, Section 2]), and in particular, $\Gamma \in GPG(b_1, b_2)$ implies that for every $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$ there exists M_{ϵ} depending on d, b_1, b_2 and ϵ such that $\Gamma \in WGLem(\mathcal{P}, \epsilon, M_{\epsilon})$. Due to the graph structure the following lemma holds.

Lemma 4.10. Assume that after a possible rotation of the spatial variables $\Gamma = \Gamma_{\psi}$ can be represented as in (4.3) for a Lip(1,1/2) function ψ . Suppose that for every $\epsilon \in (0,1]$ there exists M_{ϵ} such that $\Gamma \in \text{WGLem}(\mathcal{P}, \epsilon, M_{\epsilon})$. Then for every $\epsilon \in (0,1]$ there exists M'_{ϵ} depending on the Lip(1,1/2) constant, d and the function $\gamma(\epsilon) := M_{\epsilon}$ such that $\Gamma \in \text{BWGLem}(\mathcal{P}, \epsilon, M'_{\epsilon})$. In particular, if $\Gamma \in \text{GPG}(b_1, b_2)$ then for every $\epsilon \in (0,1]$ there exists M'_{ϵ} depending on d, b_1, b_2 and ϵ such that $\Gamma \in \text{BWGLem}(\mathcal{P}, \epsilon, M'_{\epsilon})$.

Proof. Given $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$ assume that $\Gamma \in \text{WGLem}(\mathcal{P}, \epsilon, M_{\epsilon})$. Let $Q \in \mathbb{D}(\Gamma)$ and let (X_Q, t_Q) denote the center of Q. Consider

$$\beta_{\mathcal{P},\Gamma}(Q) := \inf_{P \in \mathcal{P}} \left\{ \operatorname{diam}(Q)^{-1} \sup_{(Y,s) \in 2Q} \operatorname{dist}((Y,s), P) \right\}.$$

Given Q we let

$$\tilde{\mathcal{P}}_Q := \{ P \in \mathcal{P} : P \text{ passes through } (X_Q, t_Q) \}$$

and we introduce

$$\tilde{\beta}_{\mathcal{P},\Gamma}(Q) := \inf_{P \in \tilde{\mathcal{P}}_{Q}} \left\{ \operatorname{diam}(Q)^{-1} \sup_{(Y,s) \in 2Q} \operatorname{dist}((Y,s), P) \right\}.$$

Then

(4.11)
$$\beta_{\mathcal{P},\Gamma}(Q) \le \tilde{\beta}_{\mathcal{P},\Gamma}(Q) \le c\beta_{\mathcal{P},\Gamma}(Q)$$

where the constant $c \geq 2$ is independent of Q and Γ . Consider an arbitrary $P \in \tilde{\mathcal{P}}$. Then

$$b\beta_{\mathcal{P},\Gamma}(Q) \leq \operatorname{diam}(Q)^{-1} \sup_{(Y,s)\in 2Q} \operatorname{dist}((Y,s),P)$$

$$+ \operatorname{diam}(Q)^{-1} \sup_{(Z,\tau)\in P\cap B((X_Q,t_Q),2\operatorname{diam}(Q))} \operatorname{dist}((Z,\tau),\Gamma).$$

Using that Γ is the graph of a Lip(1,1/2) function with constant b we see that there exists a constant $K = K(b) \ge 1$ such that

$$\sup_{(Z,\tau)\in P\cap B((X_Q,t_Q),2\,\operatorname{diam}(Q))}\operatorname{dist}((Z,\tau),\Gamma)\leq \sup_{(Y,s)\in KQ}\operatorname{dist}((Y,s),P).$$

Combining (4.11)-(4.13) we deduce that

$$(4.14) b\beta_{\mathcal{P},\Gamma}(Q) \le c(b)\beta_{\mathcal{P},\Gamma}(KQ).$$

Using this inequality we see that for every $\epsilon \in (0,1]$ there exists M'_{ϵ} depending only on b, d and the function $\gamma(\epsilon) := M_{\epsilon}$ such that

$$\Gamma \in \mathrm{BWGLem}(\mathcal{P}, \epsilon, M'_{\epsilon}).$$

Theorem 1.2 now yields the following where Lemma 4.10 is used in part (iii).

Theorem 4.15. Suppose that $E \in \text{Reg}(C_*)$ admits a coronization with respect to $\mathcal{E} = \text{GPG}(b_1, b_2)$ for some fixed b_1, b_2 . Then the following hold.

- (i) $E \in GLem(\mathcal{P}, 2, 2, M)$ where M depends on C_*, b_1, b_2, d and the constants in the coronization. In particular, E is uniformly rectifiable in the parabolic sense.
- (ii) For every $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$ there exists M_{ϵ} , depending on $\epsilon, C_*, b_1, b_2, d$ and the constants in the coronization, such that $E \in \text{WGLem}(\mathcal{P}, \epsilon, M_{\epsilon})$.
- (iii) For every $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$ there exists M'_{ϵ} , depending on $\epsilon, C_*, b_1, b_2, d$ and the constants in the coronization, such that $E \in BWGLem(\mathcal{P}, \epsilon, M'_{\epsilon})$.

Specializing to the case of the Geometric Lemma, we conclude with the following, which is an immediate corollary of previously stated results.

Theorem 4.16. Suppose that $E \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$, and $E \in \text{Reg}(C_*)$, for some $C_* \geq 1$. Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) E is uniformly rectifiable in the parabolic sense.
- (ii) E admits a coronization with respect to $\mathcal{E} = GPG(b_1, b_2)$ for some b_1, b_2 .
- (iii) $E \in BP^2(GPG(b_1, b_2))$.

Indeed, observe that (i) implies (ii) is Theorem 4.8, which is one of the results that will appear in our forthcoming paper [BHHLN1]; (ii) implies (iii) is Theorem 4.9; finally, the implication (iii) implies (i) follows from Lemma 4.7, and the stability result Proposition 2.29, applied with p = q = 2, and with $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{P}$, the collection of all hyperplanes parallel to the *t*-axis.

We conclude this section with a corollary concerning singular integral operators on parabolic uniformly rectifiable sets. Let d = n + 1 denote the parabolic homogeneous dimension of \mathbb{R}^n . Given a positive integer N, we shall say that a singular kernel K satisfies (d-dimensional) "C-Z(N)" estimates if $K \in C^N(\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\})$ and

$$|\nabla_X^j \, \partial_t^k K(Y,t)| \, \leq \, C_{j,k} \, \|(Y,t)\|^{-d-j-2k} \,, \quad \forall \, 0 \leq j+k \leq N \,.$$

Corollary 4.17. Suppose that $E \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ is uniformly rectifiable in the parabolic sense. Let $K \in C^N(\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\})$ be a C-Z(N) kernel. Assume further that K(Y,t) is odd in Y, for each fixed t, i.e., K(Y,t) = -K(-Y,t), for every $Y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $t \in \mathbb{R}$. For each $\varepsilon > 0$, define the truncated SIO

$$T_{\varepsilon}f(Y,t) := \iint_{\|(Y-Z,t-s)\|>\varepsilon} K(Y-Z,t-s) f(Z,s) dYds.$$

Then for N sufficiently large, we have the uniform L^2 bound

(4.18)
$$\sup_{\varepsilon > 0} ||T_{\varepsilon}f||_{L^{2}(E)} \le C||f||_{L^{2}(E)},$$

where C depends only on K, n, and the constants in the parabolic uniformly rectifiable and ADR conditions for E.

By the "good- λ " method employed Guy David (and Cotlar's inequality for maximal singular integrals, see [D, Proposition III.3.2]), the L^2 bounds in (4.18) are stable under the "big pieces functor". Thus, by Theorem 4.16, the conclusion of the corollary is reduced to the case that E is a Good Parabolic Graph in the sense of Definition 4.6. In turn, the latter case follows essentially from [H2] (using the method of [CDM]). The results in [H2] apply directly only to the case that K satisfies the parabolic homogeneity condition

$$K(\rho Y, \rho^2 t) = \rho^{-d} K(Y, t) \,, \quad \forall \, \rho > 0 \,,$$

but in fact the arguments in [H2] may be adapted to treat the non-homogeneous case as well. Details will appear in a future publication, see the note [BHHLN2].

To conclude this section we make an observation that draws a contrast between the study of uniformly rectifiable sets and sets which are uniformly rectifiable in the *parabolic* sense.

Observation 4.19. Let $n \geq 2$. There exists a Lip(1,1/2) graph Γ in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} such that for every $\epsilon > 0$, $\Gamma \in \mathrm{BWGLem}(\mathcal{P}, \epsilon, M'_{\epsilon})$ with M'_{ϵ} depending on ϵ , but Γ is not uniformly rectifiable in the parabolic sense.

This observation seems to suggest that there may be no 'useful' Carleson *set* conditions which characterize sets which are uniformly rectifiable in the *parabolic* sense (there are many such characterizations of uniformly rectifiable sets). To make the observation, we simply use the Lip(1,1/2) graph constructed at the end of [HLN1], which is not uniformly rectifiable in the parabolic sense (and relies on the work of Lewis and Silver [LS]). The function defining the graph is a product of a smooth compactly supported function of the spatial variables and a function of t. The modulus of continuity of the function of t is bounded by $\omega(\tau) = C \min\{(\tau/\log(1/\tau))^{1/2}, 1\}$. From this information we make the estimate

$$b\beta_{\mathcal{P}}(Q) \le C_n \min\{(\log(1/\ell(Q))^{-1/2}, \ell(Q)^{-1}\}, \quad \forall Q \in \mathbb{D}.$$

Therefore if $b\beta_{\mathcal{P}}(Q) > \epsilon > 0$ then it must be the case that $\ell(Q) \in [e^{-(C_n/\epsilon)^2}, C_n/\epsilon]$. Thus, for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$, the collection of cubes $Q \in \mathbb{D}$ such that $b\beta_{\mathcal{P}}(Q) > \epsilon$ is a subset of a <u>finite</u> collection of <u>generations</u> of the dyadic lattice \mathbb{D} . Using this fact, for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$ the packing condition for the collection $\{Q \in \mathbb{D} : b\beta_{\mathcal{P}}(Q) > \epsilon\}$ in Definition 2.23 holds.

APPENDIX A. Proofs of Propositions 2.29-2.31

We here prove Propositions 2.29, 2.30 and 2.31 concerning the stability of various 'geometric lemmas' in this general setting. As previously stated, we claim modest originality but the propositions are used in our application to parabolic uniform rectifiability in the previous sections and the propositions have previously not occurred in the literature in that context. While the proofs of the propositions follow almost exactly those in [DS2, R], a difference is that we work with the dyadic versions of the β 's and I's, rather than the continuous parameters versions. In the generality in which we work here, it is not clear to us whether the continuous parameter β 's are necessarily measurable.

As the proofs of Propositions 2.29, 2.30 and 2.31 all start the same we start out by proving them simultaneously. Recall that we are assuming $E \in BP(\mathcal{E})$ where \mathcal{E} is a collection of regular sets satisfying a particular geometric lemma (depending on which proposition we are proving).

Fix $R \in \mathbb{D}(E)$ and let $\widetilde{E} \in \mathcal{E}$ be such that $\mu(\widetilde{E} \cap R) \geq c\theta$ (see Lemma 2.19). Suppose that $Q \subseteq R$ and $Q \cap \widetilde{E} \neq \emptyset$. Then there exists $\widetilde{Q} = \widetilde{Q}(Q) \in \mathbb{D}(\widetilde{E})$ such that $\operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{Q}) \geq 10 \operatorname{diam}(Q), \ Q \cap \widetilde{Q} \neq \emptyset$, and

$$\operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{Q}) \leq C_2 \operatorname{diam}(Q),$$

for some constant C_2 depending only on the d-regularity constant and dimension. For every such cube Q we choose one such \widetilde{Q} . Note that by regularity of E for fixed $Q' \in \mathbb{D}(\widetilde{E})$,

$$(A.1) #{Q \in \mathbb{D}(E) : 10 \operatorname{diam}(Q) \le \operatorname{diam}(Q') \le C_2 \operatorname{diam}(Q)} < L,$$

where L depends only on the d-regularity of E and dimension. Let $\widetilde{\delta}(y) = \operatorname{dist}(y, \widetilde{E})$ and $E_1 = E \setminus \widetilde{E}$.

In the following we will for simplicity write β_q , β , $b\beta$ for $\beta_{\mathcal{A},q}$, $\beta_{\mathcal{A}}$, $b\beta_{\mathcal{A}}$. In analogy we let $\tilde{\beta}_q$, $\tilde{\beta}$, $b\tilde{\beta}$ denote the β 's defined with respect to \tilde{E}

We next state five lemmas, Lemmas A.2-A.6. Lemma A.3, Lemma A.4 and Lemma A.5 pertain to Propositions 2.29, 2.30 and 2.31, respectively. We postpone the proofs of Lemma A.2-A.6 for now to completed the proof of Propositions 2.29, 2.30 and 2.31. The proofs of the lemmas given at the end of the section.

Lemma A.2 ([DS2, Lemma IV.1.12]). Let $E \in \text{Reg}(C_*)$ and $\alpha : \mathbb{D}(E) \to [0, \infty)$. Suppose that there exists N > 0 and $\eta > 0$ such that

$$\mu\left(\left\{x\in R: \sum_{Q\ni x,\ Q\subseteq R}\alpha(Q)\leq N\right\}\right)\geq \eta\mu(R),\quad \forall R\in\mathbb{D}.$$

Then there exists $C = C(C_*, d, N, \eta)$ such that

$$\sum_{Q\subseteq R}\alpha(Q)\mu(Q)\leq C\mu(R),\quad \forall R\in\mathbb{D}.$$

Lemma A.3. For $q \in (0, \infty)$ if $Q \cap \widetilde{E} \neq \emptyset$

$$\beta_q(Q) \le C(q) \left[\widetilde{\beta}_q(\widetilde{Q}) + I_q(Q) \right],$$

where

$$I_{q}(Q) = \left(\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{\substack{2Q \cap E_{1} \\ \tilde{\delta}(y) < 2 \text{ diam}(Q)}} [\tilde{\delta}(y)(\text{diam}(Q))^{-1}]^{q} d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q}.$$

Lemma A.4. If $Q \cap \widetilde{E} \neq \emptyset$

$$\beta(Q) \leq C_u \left[\widetilde{\beta}(\widetilde{Q}) + I_{\infty}(Q) \right],$$

where

$$I_{\infty}(Q) = \sup_{\substack{y \in 2Q \cap E_1\\ \tilde{\delta}(y) < 2 \text{ diam}(Q)}} [\tilde{\delta}(y)(\text{diam}(Q))^{-1}].$$

Lemma A.5. If $Q \cap \widetilde{E} \neq \emptyset$

$$b\beta(Q) \le C_b \left[b\widetilde{\beta}_q(\widetilde{Q}) + I_{\infty}(Q) + \widetilde{I}_{\infty}(\widetilde{Q}) \right],$$

where

$$\widetilde{I}_{\infty}(\widetilde{Q}) = \sup_{\substack{z \in 2\widetilde{Q} \cap E_1 \\ \operatorname{dist}(z, E) < 2 \operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{Q})}} [\operatorname{dist}(z, E)(\operatorname{diam}(Q))^{-1}].$$

Lemma A.6 ([DS2, Lemma IV.1.37]). Consider $E_2, E_3 \in \text{Reg}(C_*)$ and let, for $Q \in \mathbb{D}(E_2)$ and $q \in (0, \infty)$,

$$I_q(Q) = \left(\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{\substack{z \in 2Q \\ \text{dist}(z, E_3) < 2 \text{ diam}(Q)}} [\text{dist}(z, E_3)(\text{diam}(Q))^{-1}]^q d\mu(z)\right)^{1/q}$$

and set

$$I_{\infty}(Q) = \sup_{\substack{z \in 2Q \\ \operatorname{dist}(z, E_3) < 2 \operatorname{diam}(Q)}} [\operatorname{dist}(z, E_3)(\operatorname{diam}(Q))^{-1}].$$

Assume that $p \in (0, \infty)$ and $q \in (0, \infty]$ satisfy $\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{d} > 0$. Then there exists a constant $C_{p,q}$ depending on p, q, d and C_* such that

(A.7)
$$\sum_{Q\subseteq R} I_q(Q)^p \mu(Q) \le C_{p,q} \mu(R), \quad \forall R \in \mathbb{D}.$$

Moreover,

$$\sum_{\substack{Q\subseteq R\\I_{\infty}(Q)>\epsilon}}\mu(Q)\leq C\mu(R),$$

where C depends only on d and C_* .

A.1. Completing the proofs of the main propositions. Now with Lemmas A.3, A.4 and A.5 in hand, we prove each proposition separately. To prove Proposition 2.30 is similar and easier than proving Proposition 2.31 and we therefore leave the proof of Proposition 2.30 to the interested reader. In the following we prove Proposition 2.29 and Proposition 2.31 and we start with the proof of the latter.

Notice for $x \in R \cap \widetilde{E}$ when $x \in Q \subseteq R$ the cube we associate in \widetilde{E} satisfies $\widetilde{Q} \in B^*(R) = B(x_R, 10C_2 \operatorname{diam}(Q))$ and $\operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{Q}) \leq C_2 \operatorname{diam}(R)$. By making C_2 larger we may assume that \widetilde{Q} is contained in a cube \widetilde{R} such that $C_2 \operatorname{diam}(R) \leq \operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{R}) \leq C_2^2 \operatorname{diam}(R)$. Set

$$\mathcal{F} = \{\widetilde{R} \in \mathbb{D}(\widetilde{R}) : \widetilde{R} \cap B^*(R), C_2 \operatorname{diam}(R) \leq \operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{R}) \leq C_2^2 \operatorname{diam}(R)\}.$$

By the *d*-regularity of \widetilde{E} it follows that $\#\mathcal{F} \leq L'$, where L' depends only on dimension and the *d*-regularity of \widetilde{E} . Moreover, by the hypothesis that $\widetilde{E} \in \mathrm{BWGLem}(\mathcal{A}, \epsilon, M_{\epsilon})$ and Lemma A.6

$$\sum_{\widetilde{R} \in \mathcal{F}} \left(\sum_{\widetilde{Q} \subseteq \widetilde{R}, \ b\widetilde{\beta}(\widetilde{Q}) > \epsilon} \mu(\widetilde{Q}) + \sum_{\widetilde{Q} \subseteq \widetilde{R}, \ \widetilde{I}_{\infty}(\widetilde{Q}) > \epsilon} \mu(\widetilde{Q}) \right) \leq \sum_{\widetilde{R} \in \mathcal{F}} \mu(\widetilde{R})$$
(A.8)
$$\lesssim \mu(R),$$

where the implicit constant depends on ϵ M_{ϵ} , the d-regularity constant and dimension and we used the cardinality bound on \mathcal{F} , the d-regularity of \widetilde{E} and the fact that $\operatorname{diam}(\widetilde{R}) \approx \operatorname{diam}(R)$. Moreover, directly from Lemma A.6

$$\sum_{\substack{Q \subset R \\ L_{\bullet}(Q) > \epsilon}} \mu(Q) \lesssim \mu(R),$$

where the implicit constant depends on ϵ , d-regularity and dimension.

Set $C = 3C_u\epsilon$ then by Lemma A.5 if $\beta(Q) > 3C_b\epsilon$ it must be the case that either $b\tilde{\beta}(\widetilde{Q}) > \epsilon$, $\widetilde{I}_{\infty}(\widetilde{Q}) > \epsilon$ or $I_{\infty}(Q) > \epsilon$. Using that

$$\int_{R\cap\widetilde{E}} \left(\sum_{Q\ni x,\ Q\subseteq R,\ \beta(Q)>3C_b\epsilon} 1 \right) d\mu(x) \le \sum_{Q\subseteq R,\ \beta(Q)>3C_b\epsilon,\ Q\cap\widetilde{E}\neq \emptyset} \mu(Q)$$

$$\lesssim_L \sum_{Q\subseteq R,\ I_{\infty}(Q)>\epsilon} \mu(Q) + \sum_{\widetilde{R}\in\mathcal{F}} \left(\sum_{\widetilde{O}\subseteq\widetilde{R}\ b\widetilde{\beta}(\widetilde{O})>\epsilon} \mu(\widetilde{Q}) + \sum_{\widetilde{O}\subseteq\widetilde{R}\ \widetilde{L}_{\infty}(\widetilde{O})>\epsilon} \mu(\widetilde{Q}) \right),$$

and that as the expressions on the second line is bounded by $\lesssim A_{\epsilon}\mu(R)$ we can conclude that

$$(A.9) \qquad \int_{R \cap \widetilde{E}} \left(\sum_{Q \ni x, \ Q \subseteq R, \ \beta(Q) > 3C_b \epsilon} 1 \right) \ d\mu(x) \lesssim A_{\epsilon} \mu(R),$$

where A_{ϵ} depends on ϵ , M_{ϵ} , the d-regularity constant and dimension. Here we used (A.1) and $\mu(\widetilde{Q}(Q)) \approx \mu(Q)$. Thus, using Chebyschev's inequality, if $\alpha(Q)$ defined by

$$\alpha(Q) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \beta(Q) > 3C_b \epsilon \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

there exists $N, \eta > 0$ depending on θ and A_{ϵ} such that

$$\mu\left(\left\{x\in R: \sum_{Q\ni x,\ Q\subseteq R}\alpha(Q)< N\right\}\right)\geq \eta\mu(R),\quad \forall R\in\mathbb{D}.$$

Indeed, for if

$$F_N = \left\{ x \in R \cap \widetilde{E} : \sum_{Q \ni x, \ Q \subseteq R} \alpha(Q) \ge N \right\},\,$$

then the estimate (A.9) above gives

$$N\mu(F_N) \leq A_{\epsilon}\mu(R)$$
.

In particular, N sufficiently large $\mu(F_N) < (c\theta/2)\mu(R) \le (1/2)\mu(R \cap \widetilde{E})$ and hence

$$\mu(R \setminus F_N) \ge (1/2)\mu(R \cap \widetilde{E}) \ge (c\theta)/2\mu(R) =: \eta\mu(R).$$

Applying Lemma A.2 gives Proposition 2.31.

Now we prove Proposition 2.29, which is similar to Proposition 2.31. Let \mathcal{F} be as above. Since $\widetilde{E} \in GLem(\mathcal{A}, p, q, M)$

$$\sum_{\widetilde{R} \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{\widetilde{Q} \subseteq \widetilde{R}} \widetilde{\beta}_q(\widetilde{Q})^p \mu(\widetilde{Q}) \lesssim \sum_{\widetilde{R} \in \mathcal{F}} \mu(\widetilde{R}) \lesssim \mu(R).$$

Again, using Lemma A.6 directly we have

$$\sum_{Q \subseteq R} I_q(Q)^p \mu(Q) \lesssim \mu(R).$$

Then using Lemma A.3, we obtain

$$\int_{R\cap\widetilde{E}} \left(\sum_{Q\ni x,\ Q\subseteq R} \beta_q(Q)^p \right) d\mu(x) \le \sum_{Q\subseteq R,\ Q\cap\widetilde{E}\neq \emptyset} \beta_q(Q)^p \mu(Q)$$

$$\lesssim_{L,p,q} \sum_{\widetilde{R}\in\mathcal{F}} \sum_{\widetilde{Q}\subseteq \widetilde{R}} \widetilde{\beta}_q(\widetilde{Q})^p \mu(\widetilde{Q})$$

$$+ \sum_{Q\subseteq R} I_q(Q)^p \mu(Q)$$

$$\le A'\mu(Q),$$

where A' depends on M, the d-regularity constant and dimension. Arguing along the same lines as above we can conclude that there exist N' > 0 and $\eta' > 0$ such that

$$\mu\left(\left\{x\in R: \sum_{\substack{Q\ni x\\Q\subseteq R}}\beta_q(Q)^p < N'\right\}\right) \geq \eta'\mu(R), \quad \forall R\in\mathbb{D}.$$

Applying Lemma A.2 gives Proposition 2.29.

A.2. Proof of Lemma A.2-Lemma A.6.

Proof of Lemma A.2. The lemma is of John-Nirenberg type the lemma holds in our setting with no modifications compared to proof in [DS2].

Proof of Lemma A.3. The proof follows almost exactly as in [DS2, Lemma IV.1.20] Fix Q, \widetilde{Q}, q as in the hypotheses of the claim and $\eta > 0$. Let $A \in \mathcal{A}$ be such that

$$(A.10) \qquad \left(\mu(\widetilde{Q})^{-1} \int_{2\widetilde{Q}} \operatorname{dist}(\widetilde{y}, A)^q d\mu(\widetilde{y})\right)^{1/q} \leq [\operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q}] \widetilde{\beta}_q(\widetilde{Q}) + \eta.$$

By definition we also have, for this choice of A,

(A.11)
$$[\operatorname{diam} Q]\beta_q(Q) \le \left(\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{2Q} \operatorname{dist}(y, A)^q d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q}.$$

To simplify notation, in what follows we set $\rho(u) = \operatorname{dist}(u, A)$ for $u \in X$. By the triangle inequality (with a constant in the case 0 < q < 1) we have

$$[\operatorname{diam} Q]\beta_{q}(Q) \leq C(q) \left(\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{2Q \cap \widetilde{E}} \rho(y)^{q} d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q}$$

$$+ C(q) \left(\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{2Q \cap E_{1}} \rho(y)^{q} d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q}$$

$$\leq C(q, C, d)([\operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q}]\widetilde{\beta}_{q}(\widetilde{Q}) + \eta)$$

$$+ C(q) \left(\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{2Q \cap E_{1}} \rho(y)^{q} d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q},$$

where we have used that E, \widetilde{E} are d-regular with constant C to get $\mu(Q) \approx \mu(\widetilde{Q})$, with constants depending only on the homogeneous dimension d and the regularity constant C, and also the fact that $2Q \cap \widetilde{E} \subset 2\widetilde{Q}$ by the properties of \widetilde{Q} . It thus remains to estimate the last expression in the above.

We set $\widetilde{\delta}(\cdot) = \operatorname{dist}(\cdot, \widetilde{E})$ and define the following "multiplicity" function $M: \widetilde{E} \times (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$(A.13) M(z,s) := \int_{\substack{w \in E_1, \widetilde{\delta}(w) \le s \\ \operatorname{dist}(z,w) \le 2\widetilde{\delta}(w)}} \widetilde{\delta}(w)^{-d} d\mu(w) =: \int_{F(z,s)} \widetilde{\delta}(w)^{-d} d\mu(w).$$

The first basic property of M that we will need is that there exists $K_0 > 0$ such that for every $u \in X$ and s > 0 it holds

(A.14)
$$\int_{B(u,s)\cap \widetilde{E}} M(z,s) \, d\mu(z) \le K_0 s^d.$$

This is a simple application of Fubini's Theorem:

(A.15)
$$\int_{B(u,s)\cap \widetilde{E}} M(z,s) \, d\mu(z) = \int_{\widetilde{E}} \int_{E} \widetilde{\delta}(w)^{-d} 1_{F(z,s)}(w) 1_{B(u,s)\cap \widetilde{E}}(z) \, d\mu(w) \, d\mu(z)$$
$$\leq \int_{B(u,3s)\cap E} \widetilde{\delta}(w)^{-d} \int_{B(w,2\widetilde{\delta}(w))\cap \widetilde{E}} d\mu(z) \, d\mu(w),$$

where we have used the fact that if $w \in F(z, s)$ then $\operatorname{dist}(u, w) \leq \operatorname{dist}(u, z) + \operatorname{dist}(z, w) \leq s + 2\widetilde{\delta}(w) \leq 3s$. The desired bound now follows from the regularity of E and \widetilde{E} .

We now define, for $K_1 > 0$ and the set

(A.16)
$$G(y) := \left\{ z \in \widetilde{E} : z \in B(y, 2\widetilde{\delta}(y)), M(z, 2\widetilde{\delta}(y)) \le K_1 \right\}.$$

It follows from (A.14) and Chebyshev's inequality that there exists K_1 , depending only on d and the regularity constant C, such that

(A.17)
$$\mu(G(y)) \ge c\widetilde{\delta}(y)^d,$$

for some constant c > 0 also depending only on d and C. Notice also that the reverse inequality, with a different constant, follows immediately from the regularity of \widetilde{E} and the fact that $G(y) \subset B(y, 2\widetilde{y})$.

We claim that, for every $y \in E_1 \cap 2Q$,

(A.18)
$$\rho(y)^q \le C(q, d, C)\widetilde{\delta}(y)^q + C(q, d, C)\widetilde{\delta}(y)^{-d} \int_{G(y)} \rho(z)^q d\mu(z).$$

To see this we fix y as above and $z \in G(y)$ to obtain, by the triangle inequality,

(A.19)
$$\rho(y)^q \le C(q)\operatorname{dist}(y, z)^q + C(q)\rho(z)^q.$$

Integrating the z variable over G(y), and using (A.17), the estimate (A.18) follows. We use this to estimate

$$\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{2Q \cap E_{1}} \rho(y)^{q} d\mu(y)$$

$$\leq C(q, d, C)\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{2Q \cap E_{1}} \widetilde{\delta}(y)^{q} d\mu(y)$$

$$+ C(q, d, C)\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{2Q \cap E_{1}} \widetilde{\delta}(y)^{-d} \int_{G(y)} \rho(z)^{q} d\mu(z) d\mu(y)$$

$$\leq C(q, d, C)\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{2Q \cap E_{1}} \widetilde{\delta}(y)^{-d} \int_{G(y)} \rho(z)^{q} d\mu(z) d\mu(y)$$

$$+ C(q, d, C)[\operatorname{diam} Q]^{q} I_{q}(Q)^{q}$$

$$=: C(q, d, C)[\operatorname{diam} Q]^{q} (J_{q}(Q)^{q} + I_{q}(Q)^{q}).$$
(A.20)

Using Fubini's Theorem, together with the fact that for $y \in 2Q$ we have $G(y) \subset B(y, 2\widetilde{\delta}(y)) \cap \widetilde{E} \subset 2\widetilde{Q}$ by definition of G(y) and \widetilde{Q} , we can estimate J_q as follows

$$[\operatorname{diam} Q]^q J_q(Q)^q$$

(A.21)
$$= \mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{\widetilde{E}} \int_{E} \widetilde{\delta}(y)^{-d} \rho(z)^{q} 1_{G(y)}(z) 1_{2Q \cap E_{1}}(y) d\mu(z) d\mu(y)$$

$$(A.22) \leq \mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{2\widetilde{Q}} \int_{\substack{2Q \cap E_1 \\ z \in G(y)}} \widetilde{\delta}(y)^{-d} d\mu(y) \rho(z)^q d\mu(z).$$

We now claim that the inner integral is bounded by the constant K_1 , i.e.

(A.23)
$$\int_{\substack{2Q \cap E_1 \\ z \in G(y)}} \widetilde{\delta}(y)^{-d} d\mu(y) \le K_1, \qquad \forall z \in \widetilde{E}.$$

To prove this we fix $z \in \widetilde{E}$ and choose $y_0 \in E_1 \cap 2Q$ such that $z \in G(y_0)$ (if no such y_0 exists then the integral is zero and we're done), with the additional property

(A.24)
$$\widetilde{\delta}(y_0) \ge \frac{1}{2} \sup \{ \widetilde{\delta}(y) : y \in 2Q \cap E_1, z \in G(y) \}.$$

By definition of $G(y_0)$ we have $M(z, 2\widetilde{\delta}(y_0)) \leq K_1$, i.e.

(A.25)
$$\int_{F(z,2\widetilde{\delta}(y_0))} \widetilde{\delta}(y)^{-d} d\mu(y) \le K_1.$$

The claim now follows from noting that

$$(A.26) \{y \in E : y \in 2Q \cap E_1 z \in G(y)\} \subset F(z, 2\widetilde{\delta}(y_0)).$$

This in turn follows from the fact that $z \in G(y)$ implies $|z - y| \le 2\widetilde{\delta}(y)$, while $\widetilde{\delta}(y) \le 2\widetilde{\delta}(y_0)$ by our choice of y_0 . This proves (A.23).

Using (A.23) in the estimate for J_q we arrive at

$$[\operatorname{diam} Q]J_q(Q) \leq C(q,d,C) \left(\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{2\widetilde{Q}} \rho(z)^q d\mu(z)\right)^{1/q}$$

$$\leq [\operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q}]\widetilde{\beta}_q(\widetilde{Q}) + \eta,$$

where we used our choice of $A \in \mathcal{A}$ for the last inequality.

Plugging this estimate into (A.20) we see

$$\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{2Q \cap E_1} \rho(y)^q d\mu(y) \le C(q, d, C) [\operatorname{diam} Q]^q (\widetilde{\beta}_q(\widetilde{Q})^q + I_q(Q)^q)$$

$$+ C(q, d, C) \eta^q.$$

Going back to (A.12) and letting $\eta \to 0$ the result follows.

Proof of Lemma A.4. The proof of this claim will be omitted. It follows the same lines as Lemma A.5, and is in fact simpler. The idea is to mimic the argument in the proof of that claim, with the obvious modifications, up to the estimate (A.32) at which point we let $\eta \to 0$.

Proof of Lemma A.5. Fix Q, \widetilde{Q} as in the statement of the claim and $\eta > 0$. Let $A \in \mathcal{A}$ be such that

(A.29)
$$\sup_{y \in 2\widetilde{Q}} \operatorname{dist}(y, A) + \sup_{z \in A \cap B(x_{\widetilde{Q}}, 2 \operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q})} \operatorname{dist}(z, \widetilde{E}) \leq [\operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q}] b \widetilde{\beta}(\widetilde{Q}) + \eta.$$

By definition of $\beta(Q)$, for this choice of A it holds

(A.30)
$$[\operatorname{diam} Q]b\beta(Q) \leq \sup_{y \in 2Q} \operatorname{dist}(y, A) + \sup_{z \in A \cap B(x_Q, 2 \operatorname{diam} Q)} \operatorname{dist}(z, E)$$
$$=: II + III.$$

To estimate II we proceed as follows. Fix $y \in 2Q$ and let $\widetilde{y} \in \widetilde{E}$ such that $\operatorname{dist}(y,\widetilde{y}) \leq \widetilde{\delta}(y) + \eta$. By our choice of \widetilde{Q} , in particular since $Q \cap \widetilde{E} \neq \emptyset$ and $\operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q} \geq 10 \operatorname{diam} Q$, we may assume $\widetilde{y} \in 2\widetilde{Q}$ so that

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{dist}(y,A) &\leq \operatorname{dist}(y,\widetilde{y}) + \operatorname{dist}(\widetilde{y},A) \\ &\leq \widetilde{\delta}(y) + \sup_{\widetilde{y} \in 2\widetilde{Q}} \operatorname{dist}(\widetilde{y},A) + \eta. \end{aligned}$$

Taking the supremum over all $y \in 2Q$ we arrive at

$$II = \sup_{y \in 2Q} \operatorname{dist}(y, A) \le \sup_{y \in 2Q} \widetilde{\delta}(y) + \sup_{\widetilde{y} \in w\widetilde{Q}} \operatorname{dist}(\widetilde{y}, A) + \eta$$

$$= \sup_{\substack{y \in 2Q \cap E_1 \\ \widetilde{\delta}(y) \le 2 \operatorname{diam} Q}} \widetilde{\delta}(y) + \sup_{\widetilde{y} \in 2\widetilde{Q}} \operatorname{dist}(\widetilde{y}, A) + \eta$$

$$= [\operatorname{diam} Q]I(Q) + \sup_{\widetilde{y} \in 2\widetilde{Q}} \operatorname{dist}(\widetilde{y}, A) + \eta,$$

where in the second line we have used the definition of $\widetilde{\delta} = \operatorname{dist}(\cdot, \widetilde{E})$, and again the fact that $Q \cap \widetilde{E} \neq \emptyset$.

To estimate III we proceed similarly. Fix $z \in A \cap B(x_Q, 2 \operatorname{diam} Q)$ and let $\widetilde{y} \in \widetilde{E}$ be such that $\operatorname{dist}(y, \widetilde{y}) \leq d(z, \widetilde{E}) + \eta$. Arguing as before we see that we can choose \widetilde{y} such that $\widetilde{y} \in 2\widetilde{Q}$ and $\delta(\widetilde{y}) \leq 2 \operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q}$, so that

$$\operatorname{dist}(z, E) \leq \operatorname{dist}(z, \widetilde{y}) + \operatorname{dist}(\widetilde{y}, E)$$

$$\leq \operatorname{dist}(z, \widetilde{E}) + \operatorname{dist}(\widetilde{y}, E) + \eta$$

$$\leq \operatorname{dist}(z, \widetilde{E}) + \sup_{\widetilde{y} \in 2\widetilde{Q}} \operatorname{dist}(\widetilde{y}, E) + \eta$$

$$\leq \operatorname{dist}(z, \widetilde{E}) + \sup_{\widetilde{y} \in 2\widetilde{Q}} \operatorname{dist}(\widetilde{y}, E) + \eta$$

$$= \operatorname{dist}(z, \widetilde{E}) + [\operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q}]\widetilde{I}(\widetilde{Q}) + \eta.$$

Taking the supremum over all such z gives

(A.34)
$$III \leq \sup_{z \in A \cap B(x_{\widetilde{Q}}, 2 \operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q})} \operatorname{dist}(z, \widetilde{E}) + [\operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q}]\widetilde{I}(\widetilde{Q}) + \eta.$$

Combining the estimates for II and III we arrive at

$$(A.35) II + III \le \sup_{\widetilde{y} \in 2\widetilde{Q}} \operatorname{dist}(\widetilde{y}, A) + \sup_{z \in A \cap B(x_{\widetilde{Q}}, 2 \operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q})} \operatorname{dist}(z, \widetilde{E})$$

$$+ [\operatorname{diam} Q]I(Q) + [\operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q}]\widetilde{I}(\widetilde{Q}) + 2\eta$$

$$\le [\operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q}]b\widetilde{\beta}(\widetilde{Q}) + [\operatorname{diam} Q]I(Q) + [\operatorname{diam} \widetilde{Q}]\widetilde{I}(\widetilde{Q}) + 3\eta,$$

where we used (A.29) for the last line. Plugging this last estimate into (A.30) and letting $\eta \to 0$ the result follows.

Proof of Lemma A.6. First note that the last statement follows from the case $q = \infty$ p = 2d and Chebyshev's inequality. In the following we give the proof in the case p = q (this case always satisfies the inequality for d, p and q). Using Tonelli's theorem

$$\begin{split} \sum_{Q \subseteq R} I_q(Q)^q \mu(Q) &= \sum_{Q \subseteq R} I_q(Q)^p \mu(Q) \\ &= \sum_{Q \subseteq R} \int_{\substack{z \in 2Q \\ \text{dist}(z, E_3) < 2 \text{ diam}(Q)}} [\text{dist}(z, E_3)(\text{diam}(Q))^{-1}]^q d\mu(z) \\ &= \int_{2R} \left(\sum_{\substack{2Q \ni z \\ 2 \text{ diam}(Q) \ge \text{dist}(z, E_3)}} [\text{dist}(z, E_3)(\text{diam}(Q))^{-1}]^q \right) d\mu(z) \\ &= C_q \int_{2R \cap E} 1 d\mu(z) \le C\mu(R). \end{split}$$

Now notice that $I_q(Q) < C_q$, so that the case q < p easily reduces to the case p = q. The question then becomes how large we can make q. Observe that

$$I_{\infty}(Q)^{(r+d)/r} \leq C_r I_r(\widehat{Q}),$$

where \widehat{Q} is the smallest cube containing Q for which $\operatorname{diam}(\widehat{Q}) > 2\operatorname{diam}(Q)$. This follows from the fact that if $z \in 2Q$ with $0 < \operatorname{dist}(z, E_3) < 2\operatorname{diam}(Q)$ then by the d-regularity of E

$$[\operatorname{dist}(z, E_3) \operatorname{diam}(Q)^{-1}]^{r+d} \\ \leq C\mu(Q)^{-1} \int_{B(z,\operatorname{dist}(y,E_3)/10)\cap E_2} [\operatorname{dist}(w, E_3) \operatorname{diam}(Q)^{-1}]^r d\mu(w) \\ \leq CI_r(\widehat{Q})^r.$$

Notice that we can make the assumption that $\operatorname{dist}(z, E_3) > 0$ since the z for which $\operatorname{dist}(z, E_3) = 0$ do not factor into the definition of $I_{\infty}(Q)$ unless $I_{\infty}(Q) = 0$. The rest of the proof is just playing 'the exponent game' and we refer the reader to [DS2] for the details.

REFERENCES

- [AS] J.Azzam and R. Schul, Hard Sard: quantitative implicit function and extension theorem for Lipschitz maps, *Geom. Funct. Anal.* 22 (2012), 1062-1123. 2, 3
- [BH1] S. Bortz and S. Hofmann, Harmonic measure and approximation of uniformly rectifiable sets. *Rev. Mat. Iberoam.* 33 (2017), no. 1, 351-373. 3
- [BHHLN1] S. Bortz, J. Hoffman, S. Hofmann, J.-L. Luna Garcia, K. Nyström, The corona decomposition for parabolic uniformly rectifiable sets. Preprint arXiv:2103.12497. 4, 5, 19, 20, 21, 23
- [BHHLN2] S. Bortz, J. Hoffman, S. Hofmann, J.-L. Luna Garcia, K. Nyström, Parabolic Singular Integrals with Nonhomogeneous Kernels. Not for publication, arXiv:2103.12830. 23
- [CCFJR] A. P. Calderón, C. P. Calderón, E. Fabes, M. Jodeit, and N. M. Riviere, Applications of the Cauchy integral on Lipschitz curves, *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.* 84, Number 2 (1978), 287-290. 2
- [Chr] M. Christ, A T(b) theorem with remarks on analytic capacity and the Cauchy integral, Collog. Math., LX/LXI (1990), 601–628. 7, 8
- [CDM] R. Coifman, G. David, G. and Y. Meyer, La solution des conjecture de Calderón. [Solution of Calderón's conjectures] Adv. in Math. 48 (1983), no. 2, 144-148. 2, 23
- [CMM] R. Coifman, A, McIntosh and Y. Meyer, L'intégrale de Cauchy définit un opérateur borné sur L^2 pour les courbes lipschitziennes. [The Cauchy integral defines a bounded operator on L^2 2 for Lipschitz curves] Ann. of Math. (2) 116 (1982), no. 2, 361-387. 2
- [CS] R. Coifman and S. Semmes, L^2 estimates in nonlinear Fourier analysis. Harmonic analysis (Sendai, 1990), 79–95, ICM-90 Satell. Conf. Proc., Springer, Tokyo, 1991. 2
- [GCDS] G. C. David and R. Schul, Quantitative decompositions of Lipschitz mappings into metric spaces. preprint arXiv:2002.10318. 3
- [D] G. David, Wavelets and singular integrals on curves and surfaces. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1465. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991. x+107 pp. 2, 23
- [DS1] G. David and S. Semmes, Singular integrals and rectifiable sets in \mathbb{R}^n : Beyond Lipschitz graphs, *Asterisque* 193 (1991). 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8
- [DS2] G. David and S. Semmes, *Analysis of and on Uniformly Rectifiable Sets*, Mathematical Monographs and Surveys 38, AMS 1993. 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9, 24, 25, 28, 32
- [Fal] K. J. Falconer, Fractal geometry. Mathematical foundations and applications. Third edition. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., Chichester, 2014. 2
- [FO] Fässler, K. and T. Orponen, Singular integrals on regular curves in the Heisenberg group. To appear in J. Math. Pures Appl., arXiv:1911.03223 2
- [H1] S. Hofmann, A characterization of commutators of parabolic singular integrals, Proceedings of conference on Harmonic Analysis and PDE, held at Miraflores de la Sierra, Spain, 1992, J. Garcia-Cuerva, E. Hernandez, F.Soria, editors, CRC press, Boca Raton (1995), pp. 195-210. 5
- [H2] S. Hofmann, Parabolic singular integrals of Calderon-type, rough operators, and caloric layer potentials, *Duke Math. J., Vol. 90* (1997), pp 209-259. 5, 20, 21, 23
- [HL] S. Hofmann and J. L. Lewis, L^2 Solvability and representation by caloric layer potentials in time-varying domains, *Annals of Math. 144* (1996), 349-420. 5, 20, 21
- [HLN1] S. Hofmann, J. Lewis and K. Nyström, Existence of big pieces of graphs for parabolic problems, Annales Acad. Sci. Fenn. Mathematica 28 (2003), 355-384. 4, 20, 21, 24
- [HLN2] S. Hofmann, J. Lewis and K. Nyström, Caloric measure in parabolic flat domains, *Duke Math. J.* 122 (2004), 281-345. 4, 20
- [HM] S. Hofmann and J.M. Martell, Uniform rectifiability and harmonic measure I: Uniform rectifiability implies Poisson kernels in *L^p*. *Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup.* (4) 47 (2014), no. 3, 577-654. 9

- [HMMM] S. Hofmann, D. Mitrea, M. Mitrea, A. Morris, *L*^p-Square Function Estimates on Spaces of Homogeneous Type and on Uniformly Rectifiable Sets. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.* 245 (2017), no. 1159, v+108 pp. 8
- [HK] T. Hytönen and A. Kairema, Systems of dyadic cubes in a doubling metric space. *Collog. Math.* 126 (2012), no. 1, 1-33. 7
- [J] P. Jones, Rectifiable sets and the traveling salesman problem. *Invent. Math.* 102 (1990), no. 1, 1-15. 3
- [KW] R. Kaufman and J.M. Wu, Parabolic measure on domains of class Lip_{1/2}, Compositio Mathematica 65 (1988), 201-207. 5
- [LM] J. L. Lewis and M. A. M. Murray, The method of layer potentials for the heat equation in time-varying domains, *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.* 545 (1995) 1 157. 5, 20
- [LS] J. Lewis and J. Silver, Parabolic measure and the Dirichlet problem for the heat equation in two dimensions, *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 37 (1988), 801-839. 20, 24
- [Mat] Fourier analysis and Hausdorff dimension, *Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Cambridge* University Press, 2015. 2
- [M] M.A.M. Murray, The Cauchy integral, Calderón commutators, and conjugations of singular integrals in \mathbb{R}^n , *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 289 (2) (1985) 497-518. 20
- [R] S. Rigot, Quantitative notions of rectifiability in the Heisenberg groups. preprint, arXiv:1904.06904. 3, 4, 5, 24
- [RN1] J. Rivera-Noriega, A parabolic version of Corona decompositions. *Illinois Math Journal* 53 (2009), 533-559. 4
- [RN2] J. Rivera-Noriega, Two results over sets with big pieces of parabolic Lipschitz graphs. Houston Journal of Mathematics 36 (2010) 619-635. 4
- [RN3] J. Rivera-Noriega, Parabolic singular integrals and uniform rectifiable sets in the parabolic sense, J. Geometrical Analysis 23 (2013), 1140-1157. 4
- [To] Tolsa, X.: Uniform rectifiability, Calderón-Zygmund operators with odd kernel, and quasiorthogonality. *Proc. Lond. Math. Soc.* 98, 393-426 (2009). 4

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF ALABAMA, TUSCALOOSA, AL, 35487, USA *Email address*: sbortz@ua.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF MISSOURI, COLUMBIA, MO 65211, USA *Email address*: jlh82b@mail.missouri.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF MISSOURI, COLUMBIA, MO 65211, USA *Email address*: hofmanns@missouri.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF MISSOURI, COLUMBIA, MO 65211, USA *Email address*: jlwwc@mail.missouri.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UPPSALA UNIVERSITY, S-751 06 UPPSALA, SWEDEN *Email address*: kaj.nystrom@math.uu.se